University of South Dakota

Dissertations and Theses

Theses, Dissertations, and Student Projects

2023

# Attachment Network Structures and Adult Mental Health

Junnan Tian

Follow this and additional works at: https://red.library.usd.edu/diss-thesis

Part of the Developmental Psychology Commons, and the Educational Psychology Commons

# ATTACHMENT NETWORK STRUCTURES AND ADULT MENTAL HEALTH

By

Junnan Tian

M.A., University of South Dakota, 2019 B.B.A., University of South Dakota, 2016

A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Division of Counseling and Psychology in Education

Human Development and Educational Psychology Program In The Graduate School The University of South Dakota May 2023 The members of the Committee appointed to examine the Dissertation of Junnan Tian find it satisfactory and recommend that it be accepted.

	DocuSigned by:
	Harry Freeman
Chairperson	1106470ED7BD4EE
	DocuSigned by:
	lisa Newland
	D88A8C7A8EA947A
	DocuSigned by: S. Jean. Caraway AF919B6B9426464
	DocuSigned by: Leate Helbig 5FA7E622074D4F1

#### ABSTRACT

Close relationships are essential to the mental health and adaptation of adults. The study of close relationships and mental health has concentrated on dyadic interactions in different types of relationships, such as parents, best friends, and romantic partners. Much less attention has focused on how a network of close relationships informs mental health. This study concentrated on a network of five close relationships in relation to adult mental health outcomes. Four network metrics, which are composition (who), strength (number of attachment figures), morphology (hierarchical or nonhierarchical), and physical proximity were examined as predictors of adult mental health outcomes (i.e., depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation). Each network metric was investigated based on different age groups and attachment quality as potential moderating factors to explore whether the network structures of close relationships can be considered as a possible factor for understanding adult mental health. Participants included 930 adults (57% female) aged from 24 to 80, who first completed the Web-based Hierarchical Mapping Technique (WHMT), a diagrammatic measure of attachment network composition, strength, morphology, and physical distance. After completing the WHMT, the participants also completed a Qualtrics survey that included extensive questions on their demographics, mental health scales, and attachment relationships. Furthermore, the participants completed the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9), General Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7), and the Suicide Behaviors Questionnaire-Revised (SBQ-R) to assess depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation. They also completed Experiences of Close Relationships-Revised-General Short Form (ECR-R-GSF) to examine attachment quality. Multivariate Analysis of Covariance (MANCOVA) and Hierarchical Multiple Regression (HMR) were employed to explore how each network indicator was related to differences in the three mental health outcomes. The findings provided some confirmation that choosing different primary attachment figures were not significant to mental health outcomes in adult attachment networks. Having more attachment figure was associated with positive mental health outcomes. Contrary to study hypothesis, participants with nonhierarchical networks reported better mental health outcomes. Additionally, the amount of physical distance from close relationships did not appear to be a good predictor of mental health.

Dissertation Advisor: Harry Freeman

Dr. Harry Freeman, Professor

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to express my sincerest appreciation to the assistance and support that I received throughout the completion of this dissertation. First, I want to extend my sincere gratitude to my advisor, Dr Harry Freeman, for generously sharing your knowledge, patience and invaluable guidance, and support throughout the research process. It is my honor to be your student. Additionally, I want to thank my committee members. Dr. Jean Caraway, I appreciate your insight and for your effective feedback and questions which helped me to consider from different perspectives. Dr. Lisa Newland, for sharing expertise in the field, for your valuable comments in the study and encouragement, and to Dr. Kate Helbig, for sharing your valuable knowledge, advice, and encouragement which deepened the study.

To my romantic partner (girlfriend), Jing, for providing silent support and understanding in a long-distance romantic relationship to which I will always be grateful. My parents, Zongwen and Dongying, your sacrifice and steadfast faith along with a stress on tenacity was inspirational to continue this endeavor. I also want to take a moment to thank myself for my hard work, dedication, and resilience throughout this journey. It has been a long and challenging road, and without my own strength and perseverance, I would not have made it this far.

To the research team members: Hannah Faiman, Akua Opoku, and Julia Lynn PriceLee, for your contributions which made this study possible. Finally, to the participants from the present study for generously giving your time and for sharing your personal experiences and mental health status and outcomes, you were indispensable for this project.

iii

# **Table of Contents**

ommittee Acceptance Formi	
bstractii	ļ
cknowledgmentsi	ii
able of Contentsi	v
st of Tablesvi	ii
hapter One: Introduction1	
Background	1
Problem Statement of the Study	)
hapter Two: Literature Review	)
Overview	)
Close Relationships and Mental Health6	
Attachment Theory and Attachment Networks10	)
Attachment Relationships and Mental Health	3
Attachment Relationships and Social Isolation and Loneliness14	1
Attachment Networks and Mental Health15	;
The Measures of Attachment Networks 18	3
Attachment Network Structures Based on the WHMT22	2
Composition of the Network23	;
Strength of the Network24	1
Morphology of the Network26	5
Physical Proximity of the Network27	,
Present Study	3
Summary	l
Research Questions and Hypotheses	2

Composition	32
Strength	32
Morphology	32
Physical Proximity/Distance	32
Chapter Three: Methods	
Overview	33
Participants	33
Power Analysis	34
Procedure	35
Data Collection	35
Measures	
Demographics	37
The Web-Based Hierarchical Mapping Technique (The WHMT)	37
Experiences of Close Relationships (ECR)	38
The Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9)	39
Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7)	40
The Suicide Behaviors Questionnaire-Revised (SBQ-R)	41
Plan Analysis Procedures	41
Descriptives and Assumption Checks	42
Hypothesis One	42
Hypothesis Two	43
Research Question One	43
Research Question Two	44
Research Question Three	45
Research Question Four	45
Chapter Four: Results	47

Overview47
Missing Data47
Descriptive Statistics
Hypothesis One52
Hypothesis Two53
Research Question One
Research Question Two
Attachment Strength as a Predictor of Anxiety56
Attachment Strength as a Predictor of Depression57
Attachment Strength as a Predictor of Suicidal Ideation
Research Question Three
Research Question Four
Physical Distance as a Predictor of Anxiety63
Physical Distance as a Predictor of Depression
Physical Distance as a Predictor of Suicidal Ideation64
Chapter Five: Conclusions, Discussions, and Implications
Overview
Attachment Network Structures with Adult Mental Health
Composition of the Network67
Composition of the Network and Mental Health
Strength of the Network and Mental Health
Morphology of the Network and Mental Health70
Physical Proximity (Distance) of the Network and Mental Health71
Limitations
Future Directions and Implications74
Conclusion75

References77
Appendix A126
Web-Based Hierarchical Mapping Technique (WHMT)126
Appendix B129
Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9)-Depression Assessment
Appendix C130
Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7) Scale-Anxiety Assessment
Appendix D131
The Suicide Behaviors Questionnaire-Revised (SBQ-R)131
Appendix E
Experiences of Close Relationships-Revised- General Short Form (ECR-R-GSF) 132

List	of	Tab	les

Table 1: Age of Participants	100
Table 2: Sex of Participants	101
Table 3: Romantic Relationship Status of Participants	102
Table 4: Socioeconomic Status (SES) of Participants	103
Table 5: Composition Collapsed Category Results for Attachment Figure	104
Table 6: Attachment Strength-Number of Attachment Figures in the Inner Circle	107
Table 7: Morphology-Attachment Network Structures for Attachment Hierarchy	108
Table 8: Correlations for Study	109
Table 9: Descriptive Statistics for Continuous Variables.	110
Table 10: Descriptive Statistics for Emotional and Physical Distance	111
Table 11: Chi-Square Tests for Hypothesis 1	112
Table 12: Symmetric Measures for Hypothesis 1	113
Table 13: Chi-Square Tests for Hypothesis 2	114
Table 14: Symmetric Measures for Hypothesis 2	115
Table 15: MANCOVA-Composition.	116
Table 16: MANCOVA-Morphology (Controlling for Emotional Distance)	117
Table 17: Bonferroni Multiple Comparisons of Morphology	117
Table 18: MANCOVA-Tests of Between-Subjects Effects-Morphology	119
Table 19: Hierarchical Multiple Regression for Attachment Strength Predicting Anxiety	120
Table 20: Hierarchical Multiple Regression for Attachment Strength Predicting Depression.	121

Table 21: Hierarchical Multiple Regression for Attachment Strength Predicting Suicidal Ideation	.122
Table 22: Hierarchical Multiple Regression for Physical Distance Predicting Anxiety	.123
Table 23: Hierarchical Multiple Regression for Physical Distance Predicting Depression	.124
Table 24: Hierarchical Multiple Regression for Physical Distance Predicting Suicidal Ideation	.125

## **Chapter One: Introduction**

### Background

According to recent educational and psychological research, the mental health needs of both adolescents and adults have become a national focus of attention in the United States during the past decade (Prince, 2015). A growing number of people have been experiencing depression, anxiety, and suicidal thoughts in the United States (Czeisler et al., 2020; Kumar et al., 2013; Toscos et al., 2019; Young et al., 2016). Nevertheless, depression and anxiety are two of the most popular mental health problems or disorders during adolescence and adulthood (Costello et al., 2006; Williamson et al., 2005). Mental health illnesses negatively influence people's life, work, study, and impact their relationships, which may place individuals at an increased factor for suicidal ideation (Goldston et al., 2009; Kumar et al., 2013; Mayes et al., 2014). Some studies have demonstrated a connection between adolescent attachment networks and their mental health outcomes (Berkman et al., 2000; Bowlby, 1980; Bretherton, 1991; Lee, 2012; Porter & Chambles, 2014; Rosenthal & Kobak, 2010). However, it is not completely clear whether network structures in close relationships are linked to the results of adult mental health (Doherty & Feeney, 2004, Freeman et al., 2018, 2021). In addition, existing measures focus on a single metric (i.e., composition), and additional metrics (i.e., strength, morphology, and physical proximity) need to be examined in order to better explore the whole picture of networks for close relationships (Rowe & Carnelley, 2005). Visualized diagrammatic assessments that measure social networks for close relationships may be helpful as an effective way to investigate internalizing problems with the adult population. Nevertheless, the empirical evidence to support

the association between attachment network structures and adult mental health outcomes is needed.

#### **Problem Statement of the Study**

The study of close relationships and mental health for adults has received increasing interest and attention among researchers during the past decade (Chopik, 2017). Close relationships are characterized by strong and enduring interdependence, which is defined as the extent to which intimates need and influence one another (Dunkel Schetter, 2017). Pietromonaco and Collins's (2017) research has suggested that close relationships play a vital role in people's mental health. Moreover, close relationships can protect and promote health in different ways (Feeney & Collins, 2015). Supportive close relationships promote health both by helping people cope with stress and by enabling them to fulfill basic needs for social connection such as love, intimacy, companionship, and security (Pietromonaco & Collins, 2017). However, Umberson and Montez (2010) have also demonstrated that strained and conflicted social interactions undermine health. For instance, negative social interactions and close relationships, especially with partners or spouses, increase the risk and probability of depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation (Coker et al., 2002). In summary, close relationships are integral and essential to the mental health and adaptation of adults (Dunkel Schetter, 2017). Nevertheless, the impact of relationships on mental health has concentrated on dyadic interactions in different types of relationships, such as parents, best friends, and romantic partners (Daley & Hammen, 2002; Pietromonaco & Uchino, 2013). Much less attention has focused on how a network of close relationships informs mental health, which is the focus of the current study (Pietromonaco & Powers, 2015).

Networks of close relationships can be defined as strong emotional or relational bonds between a finite number of people (e.g., family members, friends, peers, romantic partners) (Mason et al., 2014). In the current study, I will focus on the five closest relationships in one's social network that include one's attachment relationships. Attachment relationships identify a special class of affectionate bonds that are biologically based and function to provide felt security. Most children, adolescents, and adults typically have between one and four attachment relationships (Freeman & Simons, 2018; Freeman et al., 2021). Four different metrics of network structure will be measured and used to predict adult mental health; these include (1) composition, 2) strength, 3) morphology, and 4) physical proximity.

Composition of the network refers to who is in the network. The majority of research on attachment networks has focused on this single metric of who people are attached to. Strength of network indicates a measure of how close each relationship is to the person. Network strength can be compared between people as a measure of absolute strength, but it can also be compared within subjects as relative strength between network members. Relative strength can be used to understand the shape or morphology of the network; for instance, if the network is hierarchical or not. Compared to adolescent networks, few network analyses have examined variations in the strength of adult close relationship networks (Allen, 2008; Kobak et al., 2005). Morphology of the network describes the relative strength of a network through five closest network figures (the degree to which network members are hierarchically organized or not). Morphology of the network can be nonhierarchical (distributed structure-no preference) or may take on different forms of hierarchical structure such as monotropic (a primary figure), diversified (differentiation between a primary and secondary figure and between a secondary and tertiary figure) or joint principal (no difference between top two figures) (Freeman & Simons, 2018). The fourth metric

is physical proximity, that is, the physical distance and geographical location of each member of the network in relation to each other. Overall, the four key facets of network structure (strength, composition, morphology, and physical proximity) provide a framework for conceptualizing how adults organize multiple attachment bonds with parents, romantic partners, peers/friends, and others (Freeman & Simons, 2018). Each network metric will be examined based on different age groups and attachment quality as potential moderating factors to explore whether the network structures of close relationships can be considered as a possible factor for understanding adult mental health.

Existing studies of close relationship networks provide a limited or incomplete understanding. Most studies have focused on a single metric of network structure and explored attachment strength using ordinal or ranking items. The ranking scales are fit for the identification of the composition in attachment networks and the primary attachment figures. Nevertheless, the ordinal scales are not able to indicate an accurate measurement of attachment strength and within-subject comparisons between network members (Freeman & Simons, 2018; Freeman et al., 2021). Based on Doherty & Feeney's study in 2004, they assessed the structure of adult attachment networks and used a questionnaire measure of preferred attachment figures with a great number of adult participants representing a wide age range and life situations (Doherty & Feeney, 2004). Goh & Wilkinson (2017) used the Attachment Network Questionnaire to examine attachment strength and relationship expectancies in the prediction of adolescent stress and depression. Attachment strength was found to demonstrate fewer associations with psychological health in the presence of individual differences in attachment expectancies and did not consistently predict adolescent psychological health.

Although the field has gained an understanding of the normative structure of attachment networks at different ages, traditional analyses and scales are not capable of examining variations or differentiations in the attachment strength or shape of the network (Freeman & Simons, 2018; Rowe & Carnelley, 2005). In addition, very little is understood on how the composition of adult attachment networks will change based on current assessments and methods. Unfortunately, the data on adult attachment at different ages have been ambiguous, and as a result, alternative theoretical perspectives have evolved to explain them (Fraley et al., 1997, 2006). Based on limited study of adult attachment networks in the United States, few studies have used multidimensional network indicators to examine how mental health is situated within multiple ongoing relationships.

The current research provides a more complete view of how our closest relationships are important to adult mental health outcomes by examining the relationships between four attachment network metrics (composition, strength, and morphology, and physical proximity) in relation to mental health. A second focus in the current study is to examine the quality of attachment as a moderating variable of the connection between adult network structures in close relationships and mental health. Other potential moderating effects between attachment network structures and adult mental health are also be investigated (i.e., age and attachment quality). Furthermore, based on the Web-based Hierarchical Mapping Technique (WHMT), the WHMT can be applied for independent ratio-scaled ratings of network figures and is designed to address four attachment network metrics: composition, strength, morphology, and physical proximity. It is also a new measure of attachment network composition and strength and an alternative method to traditional assessment measures of attachment with multiple advantages. (Freeman et al., 2021).

#### **Chapter Two: Literature Review**

## Overview

This chapter first includes a review of pertinent research that is related to close relationships and mental health. Second, the association between attachment theory and attachment networks is discussed. Third, the connection between attachment networks and mental health is presented. Fourth, an outline of the interrelationship between the four metrics of attachment networks with adult mental health, especially in anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation is introduced and discussed. Lastly, a chapter summary is provided.

#### **Close Relationships and Mental Health**

Close relationships are significant to people's mental health (Kawachi & Berkman, 2001; Ross et al., 2019). Positive intimate relationships (e.g., family relationships, romantic relationships, and close friendships) can provide individuals with emotional, practical, and social support and reduce feelings of loneliness and social isolation (Cohen, 2004; Hefner & Eisenberg, 2009; Rook, 2015). In contrast, people who report negative close relationship experiences (e.g., conflict, abuse, and lack of support) have higher rates of anxious and depressive symptoms, suicidal ideation, and cardiovascular disease in dysfunctional family relationships, abusive romantic relationships, and toxic friendships (Brooks & Dunkel Schetter, 2011; Ibarra-Rovillard & Kuiper, 2011; Rueger et al., 2016).

Social connection is considered a crucial aspect of close relationships, as it helps to build and maintain the emotional bond between individuals (e.g., family members, romantic partners, friends) (Kawachi & Berkman, 2001; Martino et al., 2017). In close relationships, social connection has been explored by researchers through a variety of ways. The key constructs of social connection consist of social isolation, loneliness, the feelings of vulnerability, and the

quality of relationships, which have significant impacts on people's mental health. These components are discussed below.

First, a lack of social connection in close relationships can lead to the feelings of loneliness and social isolation (Holt-Lunstad et al., 2010). Social isolation and loneliness have been discussed by a lot of studies in the aspects of mental health, which can negatively influence mental health (e.g., mortality and morbidity-depression, anxiety, suicidal thoughts) in children, adolescents, and adults (Courtin & Knapp, 2017; Gerst-Emerson & Jayawardhana, 2015; Holt-Lunstad et al., 2010, 2015, 2016; Loades et al., 2020). Social isolation refers to the situation or the state that people completely lack or lose social interactions, contacts, or supports, which is closely associated with the quality and quantity of social relations (Holt-Lunstad et al., 2010, 2015, 2016; Veazie et al., 2019). The state of social isolation can include staying at home for a long period of time without any connection or contact with family members or friends and avoiding contacts with others intentionally (Cudjoe et al., 2020; House, 2001; Lacey et al., 2014; Qualter et al., 2010). Moreover, social isolation can happen in any age group, but different age groups may have various symptoms (e.g., anxiety, depression, suicidal ideation, lethargy, poor self-care) (Cudjoe et al., 2020; House, 2001; Lacey et al., 2014; Qualter et al., 2010). Many relevant studies have indicated that individuals who are socially isolated are likely to have higher suicidal tendencies (more easily to commit suicide) than those who are strong socially connected, especially for young adults (Cudjoe et al., 2020; House, 2001; Lacey et al., 2014; Qualter et al., 2010). Nevertheless, social loneliness is different from social isolation, which describes the subjective emotional state that people may temporarily lack social communications or interactions and feel alone or isolated. It should be noted that individuals have inadequate social contacts or interactions in the state of loneliness (Holt-Lunstad et al., 2010, 2015, 2016; Veazie

et al., 2019). Loneliness also influences mental health. Related research has found that adolescents who have experience of loneliness in peer relationships or friendships (peer-related loneliness) are more likely to feel depressed since less support came from their peers or friends (Lau et al., 1999; Qualter et al., 2010).

Social isolation is measured by most studies through different social network indexes, including frequency, size, closeness of interactions or contacts of an individual's social networks (Chan et al., 2017; Veazie et al., 2019). These factors are based on the assessment of the level of contact and support that people can get from their family members, friends, and others (Chan et al., 2017; Veazie et al., 2019). Most isolation studies use self-report ordinal or ranking scales to examine social isolation (i.e., an individual's perceived level of social isolation), such as Lubben Social Network Scale and the Revised Social Isolation Scale (Holt-Lunstad et al., 2015; Valtorta et al., 2016). Loneliness is measured by examining emotional and social loneliness, which is also based on ordinal or ranking scales (Chan et al., 2017; De Jong Gierveld & Havens, 2004; Veazie et al., 2019). These scales include De Jong Gierveld Loneliness Scale, UCLA Loneliness Scale, Social Provisions Scale, and Social Support Questionnaire (i.e., an individual's subjective feelings of loneliness) (De Jong Gierveld & Havens, 2004; Valtorta et al., 2016; Veazie et al., 2019).

Second, lack of social connection is also linked to feelings of vulnerability. Vulnerability is described as one's feeling of emotional exposure to negative outcomes (i.e., susceptibility) or the sense of insecurity (being unprotected) from dangerous situations and harmful experiences (Haddadi & Besharat, 2010). Individuals who lack social connection are tended to be more vulnerable to depression, anxiety, distress, antisocial and suicidal behaviors, which may cause an increase in their isolation (Cacioppo & Patrick, 2008; Haddadi & Besharat, 2010). Based on the

neurobiological evidence, vulnerability activates stress responses, which releases stress hormones such as adrenaline and cortisol (Kumar et al., 2013). Some research has demonstrated that when people feel vulnerable, a stressful situation (no matter from environmental or psychological perspective) can activate a series of stress hormones that cause physiological changes (Chu et al., 2021). Additionally, negative mental health outcomes in children and adolescents are closely relevant to stress and the repeated activation of the stress response system (Rotenberg & McGrath, 2016).

Finally, relationship quality (the quality of connection) is the factor that cannot be neglected as well in close relationships for people's mental health (Cohen, 2004; Rook, 2015). The quality of relationships describes how individuals are satisfied with their relationships, which is closely associated with positive and negative feelings about relationships (Farooqi, 2014; Morry et al., 2010). Relationship quality involves various aspects, such as trust, satisfaction, and feelings of safety (Berry & Worthington, 2001; Farooqi, 2014). High quality in a relationship reflects in positive feelings or experiences such as well-being, affection, and intimacy, while low quality of a relationship is embodied in negative feelings or experiences such as conflicts and interferences (Berry & Worthington, 2001; Dush & Amato, 2005; Farooqi, 2014). Some current research on relationship quality and mental health is mainly focused on the pandemics of COVID-19. Pieh et al., (2020) created a cross-sectional study and evaluated the differentiations of mental health and well-being measures in terms of relationship quality during COVID-19. The findings suggested that poor relationship quality might cause more depression and anxiety symptoms than better relationship quality. A relationship itself was not connected with mental health outcomes, but the quality of a relationship was crucial to mental health. Pieh et al., (2021) also investigated the association between the quality of relationships and mental

health during COVID-19 in the UK. The results demonstrated that the high quality of relationships was positively associated with the results of mental health and well-being, including lower stress and depression. However, those people who had worse quality of relationships were more burdened and drank more alcohol during COVID-19 lockdown.

As discussed above, four dimensions of social connection (i.e., social isolation, loneliness, the feelings of vulnerability, and the quality of relationships) in close relationships are indispensable to one's mental health, but these constructs have been approached only based on a non-network perspective. A network perspective of close relationships can provide a panorama of an individual's social connections and relationships. This can give researchers a more comprehensive understanding of how close relationship networks are associated with mental health outcomes. This study will provide a more complete picture by examining the ecology of close relationships from an attachment perspective.

This study will focus on four attachment network indicators: composition, strength, morphology, and physical proximity. The rationale of this research is to keep the concentration of the study on variables which associate with attachment network structures and their relationships to the outcomes of adult mental health.

### **Attachment Theory and Attachment Networks**

Attachment theory was pioneered by John Bowlby (1969, 1982) and further developed by his student, Mary Ainsworth (1967, 1989). The theory is focused on a strong and emotional bond or connection between infants and their caregivers (e.g., mothers, fathers, others) (Bowlby, 1969). Generally, parents (usually the mother) are the baby's initial primary attachment figure during the first year of life (Ainsworth, 1991; Bowlby, 1969, 1982; Cassidy & Shaver, 2008). Infants are not able to survive on their own, and their attachment behavior is considered as

survival adaptation (Bowlby, 1982). The construct of attachment delineates the attachment behavior that people usually seek to maintain proximity to significant others for comfort and protection when they feel vulnerable and distressed (Bowlby, 1982). Internal working model (IWM) is an essential concept in attachment theory and was elaborated by Bowlby (1969, 1982). The model indicates a mental representation that is shaped through children's early experiences with their primary caregiver (Main et al., 1985). The mental representation is closely associated with attachment experiences, which impacts how children interact and establish relationships with other people as they grow up (Main et al., 1985). People's attachment interactions are influenced by their formation of the working model (Bowlby 1973; Bretherton & Munholland, 2008).

The process of attachment formation to first attachment figure(s) involves four basic stages (Ainsworth, 1991; Bowlby, 1969, 1982; Cassidy & Shaver, 2008). The first stage is called the pre-attachment phase. From birth to six weeks, babies do not particularly attach to a specific caregiver, but their signals or behaviors (e.g., crying, gazing, smiling) can naturally draw the attention of the caregiver (Ainsworth, 1991; Bowlby, 1969, 1982; Cassidy & Shaver, 2008; Mikulincer et al., 2003). Although babies do not feel anxious if they are left with a stranger, they still can identify and distinguish their own mother's voice, face, or smell. At six weeks to six to eight months, infants start to move from pre-attachment to attachment-in-the-making phase. Based on Bowlby, infants are able to show their preference for primary and secondary attachment figures (caregivers) during this stage (Ainsworth, 1991; Bowlby, 1969, 1982; Cassidy & Shaver, 2008; Mikulincer et al., 2003). According to the infant's relationships with the attachment figures, infants can recognize and respond differently between familiar caregivers and strangers. Some research has demonstrated that babies are inclined to use signals such as

smiles and babbles to interact with their mother, and they can be quiet more quickly when their mother picks them up (Ainsworth, 1991; Bowlby, 1969, 1982; Cassidy & Shaver, 2008; Mikulincer et al., 2003). As babies identify and learn that their own behaviors influence the people who are around them, they begin to build a sense of trust with their caregivers in the attachment-in-the-making phase (indiscriminate stage). Infants show some discrimination at this stage, but it is emerging. Infants will still not show strong protest for particular caregivers. Anxiousness and protest are present, but emerging qualities that become more fully recognized in the next stage. After indiscriminate stage, infants begin to move into clear-cut attachment phase (discriminate stage) between eight months to two years, and they can display strong attachment to a clear or specific attachment figure (Ainsworth, 1991; Bowlby, 1969, 1982; Cassidy & Shaver, 2008; Mikulincer et al., 2003). Attachment to the first attachment figure(s) is obvious, and the familiar caregiver is considered as the infant's secure base. Separation anxiety is also shown during this stage. Generally, separation anxiety gradually increases between six and fifteen months. Infants become upset and anxious when their attachment figure(s) leaves (Ainsworth, 1991; Bowlby, 1969, 1982; Cassidy & Shaver, 2008; Mikulincer et al., 2003). Formation of a reciprocal relationship is developed after the discriminate stage, and infants begin to grow emotional and attachment bonds with other attachment figures (caregivers). As the infant forms additional attachments to other caregivers, there is the formation of an attachment network (Ainsworth, 1991; Bowlby, 1969, 1982; Cassidy & Shaver, 2008; Mikulincer et al., 2003).

Nevertheless, very little is understood about how networks function in infancy and childhood since the focus has been on the mother-child relationship. The focus on the motherchild relationship limits researchers' understanding of the role of other relationships and

networks in shaping early development and mental health. (Dagan & Sagi-Schwartz, 2018; Kochanska, 1998; Laible & Thompson, 2000).

#### Attachment Relationships and Mental Health

Of all people's relationships, attachment relationships are most important. Attachment relationships identify a special class of affectionate ties that are biologically based and function to provide felt security (Ainsworth, 1967). Most children, adolescents, and adults typically have between one and four attachment relationships (Freeman & Simons, 2018; Freeman et al., 2021). These relationships play an essential role in shaping an individual's mental health. Relevant study has indicated that early childhood experiences with attachment figures can have a lasting impact on mental health, as they shape an individual's attachment style and their ability to form and maintain close relationships in adulthood (Bowlby, 1980, 1988; Bretherton, 1992; Fonagy et al., 2014). Individuals with a secure attachment style are characterized by trust and confidence in their attachment figures and tend to have better mental health outcomes compared to those with insecure attachment styles, such as avoidance or anxiety (Bowlby, 1980, 1988; Mikulincer et al., 1999).

However, the existing research on attachment has also demonstrated that a lack of attachment or insecure attachment can potentially cause emotional dysregulation (Marganska et al., 2013; Mosquera et al., 2014). Those people who do not have a secure attachment may have difficulty in managing their emotions when they feel stress, anxious, or vulnerable. This can lead to emotional outbursts or mood swings (Mikulincer et al., 2006). Moreover, if individuals are not able to get sufficient emotional support, they may also struggle to control their emotional responses to interpersonal relationships and social situations (Elhusseini et al., 2023). This can cause difficulty in forming and maintaining healthy relationships (i.e., loneliness and social

isolation). Individuals who lack attachment may also struggle with self-worth and self-esteem and leading to negative thoughts and emotions (Brennan & Morris, 1997; Park et al., 2004). This can lead to a vicious cycle of negative emotions and difficulty in regulating their emotional responses to different events and experiences (Brennan & Morris, 1997; Park et al., 2004).

In addition, attachment quality, as one of the important areas of relationship quality, is also closely associated with mental health (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2012). Attachment quality indicates the unique and typical modes of correlative expectations in terms of major attachment patterns (secure vs insecure) that reflect mental representations of self and significant others (Mayseless, 1996; Mikulincer et al., 2003). The quality of attachment is closely related to specific caregivers and largely determined by the caregiver's responses. Insecure attachment can be seen as a general vulnerability to mental disorders (Lieberman, 2004; Mikulincer & Shaver, 2012). Attachment insecurities (i.e., anxious and avoidant attachment) are connected with depression, clinically significant anxiety, suicidal ideation, and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (Bosmans et al., 2010; Cantazaro & Wei, 2010; Ein-Dor et al., 2010; Gormley & McNiel, 2010). Additionally, some research has suggested that the secure attachment relationship between babies and their mother predicts a better cognitive and behavior outcome; however, insecure attachment, especially for anxious-resistant attachment, may cause lower cognitive level and greater behavioral problems in early childhood (Ainsworth, 1989; Ding et al., 2014).

### Attachment Relationships and Social Isolation and Loneliness

As discussed earlier, a lack of social connection in close relationships can cause the feelings of social isolation and loneliness. The existing study on attachment has also discussed about social isolation and loneliness from the perspective of attachment relationships (De Jong

Gierveld et al., 2006; Mikulincer & Shaver, 2013, 2021; Weiss, 1987). Moreover, some researchers prefer to call social isolation and loneliness in attachment relationships as emotional isolation and loneness (De Jong Gierveld et al., 2006; Mikulincer & Shaver, 2013, 2021; Weiss, 1987). Attachment figures play a crucial role in adolescent and adult attachment networks. During infancy and childhood, attachment figures provide a sense of safety and security that allows children to explore and interact with the world around them. When children lack these close figures, they may struggle to form meaningful relationships with others and may experience emotional isolation and loneliness (De Jong Gierveld et al., 2006; Mikulincer & Shaver, 2013, 2021; Weiss, 1987). Additionally, individuals who experience loss or separation from attachment figures later in life may also struggle with feelings of loneliness and emotional isolation. For example, older adults who lose a spouse or partner may experience profound loneliness and social isolation, which can have negative effects on their physical and mental health (De Jong Gierveld et al., 2006; Mikulincer & Shaver, 2013, 2021; Weiss, 1987). Overall, attachment figures play a critical role in social development, and the absence of these figures can lead to social difficulties and negative outcomes such as loneliness and emotional isolation.

#### **Attachment Networks and Mental Health**

Attachment networks refer to an individual's closest relationships that function as emotional support, and the individual can seek proximity, protection, and support from these intimate figures (e.g., family members, romantic partners, and best friends) (Bowlby, 1982; Cassidy, 1999; Cassidy & Shaver, 2008; Dougherty & Feeney, 2004).

Children begin to expand their attachment networks with age, and more close figures are added in the network besides parents (e.g., peers/best friends and romantic partners) (Ainsworth,

1991; Allen & Land, 1999; Bowlby, 1969; Fraley & Davis, 1997; Furman, 1999; Hazan & Ziefman, 1994; Scharf & Mayseless, 2007; Shulman & Collins, 1997; Weiss, 1993). These close figures are essential to forming multiple attachment relationships. As attachment functions develop, an individual's primary attachment figure is transferred from parents or related caregivers to peers or close friends. As adolescents become mature (early adulthood), romantic partners are more likely to be considered as their primary attachment figure (Bowlby, 1969, 1982; Mikulincer & Shaver, 2007). As adolescents transfer to early adulthood, their parents may be less readily accessible or obtainable, and the trend of the attachment network inclines to be more complicated and diverse as the attachment functions shift step by step (Ainsworth, 1991; Bowlby, 1969; Hazan & Zeifman, 2008; Kobak, Rosenthal, & Serwic, 2005; Kobak, Rosenthal, Zajac, & Madsen, 2007). The transfer of the figures in attachment networks during adolescence is considered as normative change and lays a foundation for adulthood. Some research has explored the change of preference for the close network figures from late adolescence to early adulthood (Fraley & Davis, 1997). The results have demonstrated that parents, for most of the time, are the primary attachment figures in the attachment hierarchy, but the preference for peers or romantic partners have an increasing tendency, especially for emotional support (Fraley & Davis, 1997; Weiss, 1994).

In young adulthood, romantic partners and best friends play functions as a safe haven and a secure base in attachment networks with the formation of romantic relationships and the development of close friendships (Fraley & Davis, 1997; Trinke & Bartholomew, 1997). The composition of the attachment networks during middle adulthood may change slightly. Children become more important as parent-child relationships are developed, but spouses and best friends still play indispensable roles in attachment networks (Antonucci et al., 2004). Those of people

who are childless may tend to have more active sibling ties (Antonucci et al., 2004; Connidis & Campbell, 1995). Nevertheless, from middle to late adulthood, the composition in attachment relationships remains stable, but the attachment networks may become smaller (Antonucci et al., 2004). Cicirelli (2010)'s study has investigated attachment relationships for younger and elder adults. The findings have indicated that older people have smaller attachment networks and less attachment figures than younger adults, and spouses are always on the top of the attachment hierarchy. Attachment figures are integral to maximum adaptation for elders, which also influences mental health (Cicirelli, 2010).

The study of attachment networks has been integrated into the study of close relationships by researchers in order to gain a more complete understanding of the impact of close relationships on mental health. In the previous research, more attention was paid to infant and child attachment. Nevertheless, more research has expanded to adolescent or adult attachment in order to examine multiple relationships within a network system (Hendrick & Hendrick, 1994; Scarf, 2017). People desire to connect, develop, and maintain secure interpersonal attachments (Bowlby, 1969; Jordan, 2010). The attachment in romantic relationships during adulthood was investigated and tackled by Hazan and Shaver's (1987) seminal study, which enlarged the scope of attachment. Based on the research, Hazan and Shaver proposed a measure of attachment styles based on adult romantic relationships (Hazan & Shaver, 1987). They suggested that everyone has their own internal working models of attachment, which are developed in early childhood based on their interactions with primary caregivers (Hazan & Shaver, 1987). Three primary attachment styles have been identified, including secure, anxious, and avoidant, which are thought to shape the way that people perceive and experience intimate relationships throughout their lives (Hazan & Shaver, 1987).

#### The Measures of Attachment Networks

Hazan and Shaver (1994)'s seminal work in developing a measure of attachment networks indicate that attachment behaviors and cognitions are used to identify who is considered to be an attachment figure. These included 1) proximity maintenance, 2) safe haven, and 3) secure base. These features are essential for understanding attachment networks. The function of proximity maintenance indicates the behavior that individuals desire to seek and remain the closeness to attachment figures. People will feel distressed if they separate from their attachment figures. The function of safe haven describes that people are attached to their preferred figures for support, comfort, or safety when they feel threatened, distressed, or vulnerable. The third function is secure base which demonstrates that people can take risks to explore the world from the safety and support that are provided by their attachment figures (Bowlby, 1988; Hazan & Shaver, 1994; Waters & Cummings, 2000). One's network of attachment figures will be established if two or more figures fit these characteristics, although these figures are not necessarily considered equal sources of attachment support. It should be noticed that every attachment figure in a network does not have to be the equal targets for attachment behaviors.

The WHOTO (Hazan et al., 1991; Hazan & Shaver, 1994) is the first scale used to determine the composition of attachment networks beyond childhood. The scale was initially developed by Hazan et al., (1991, 1994) as a single forced choice scale, but it was not able to examine the level of primary attachment figures in terms of the three attachment features (i.e., proximity maintenance, safe haven, and secure base). Fraley and Davis (1997) later modified the WHOTO for Likert scaling. The modified version of the scale allowed participants to write the name(s) of the people who best served each of the attachment features. Two composite scores

(ranging from 1-4) were set for each of the attachment features to indicate the extent to which participants used a specific person (i.e., romantic partners and best friends) as an attachment figure (Fraley & Davis, 1997). The scale contains six questions referring to the three characteristics of attachment behaviors and cognitions (proximity maintenance, safe haven, secure base) that differentiate attachment figures from non-attachment figures (Hazen et al., 1991, 1994). The question, "Who is the person you can always count on to be there for you no matter what happens?" is a part of six-item ranking scale in the WHOTO (Hazen et al., 1991, 1994). Based on the scale, the individual's primary attachment figures can be identified, but the rest of the attachment hierarchies are not clear.

In comparison with the WHOTO, the Attachment Networks Questionnaire (ANQ) (Trinke & Bartholomew, 1997), an eight-item ranking scale, is used to measure multiple attachment figures in adult attachment network and examine the characteristics of attachment hierarchies (ANQ, Trinke & Bartholomew, 1997). Based on the three attachment features, participants can list as many people as they think are important to them (Trinke & Bartholomew, 1997). For example, a safe haven item from the ANQ (Trinke & Bartholomew, 1997) shows, "Whom do you actually go to, to help you feel better when something bad happens to you or you feel upset?" Similarly, the Important People Interview (IPI) (Rosenthal & Kobak, 2010), a nineitem ranking survey, is applied to examine adolescents' attachment hierarchies and differentiate their attachment figures from other supportive individuals (Rosenthal & Kobak, 2010). For instance, the question, "Who would you most choose to be with if you wanted to have fun and have a good time?" is the item of proximity maintenance from IPI (Rosenthal & Kobak, 2010). The total or average scores of these scales are calculated, and the person who gets the highest score is considered as the primary attachment figure after comparing with other network members (Rosenthal & Kobak, 2010; Trinke & Bartholomew, 1997).

According to these traditional measures, Fraley and Davis (1997) investigated the transfer of attachment-related functions from parents to close friendships and romantic relationships in young adulthood. The transference of the attachment functions from parents to peers as primary attachment figures was increased (Fraley & Davis, 1997). Moreover, the essential factors such as caregiving, trust, and intimate contact were indispensable for facilitating the development of attachment formation in early childhood, which was also positively associated with the development of attachment in adult relationships (Fraley & Davis, 1997). Trinke and Bartholomew (1997)'s study examined adult attachment hierarchies. On average, 5.38 attachment figures were included in adult attachment networks. Peers had a higher-ranking score for safe haven functions than secure base functions, and romantic partners were ranked more highly than any other attachment figures (i.e., parents, siblings, and best friends) as a safe haven (desired and actual use) and a secure base (desired use) (Trinke & Bartholomew, 1997). Similarly, Rosenthal and Kobak (2010) tested adolescents' attachment hierarchies, and romantic partners were ranked in higher positions. However, the traditional approaches have only used six- to nine-item ranking scales to analyze each of the three attachment features. Although the ranking scales are fit for the identification of the composition in attachment networks and the primary attachment figures, the ordinal and the forced choice scales are not able to indicate an accurate measurement of attachment strength and within-subject comparisons between network figures (Freeman & Simons, 2018; Freeman et al., 2021). More study is needed to examine the significance of subsidiary figures (relationships) in the attachment network structure.

The Bull's Eye, a new diagrammatic measure, has the potential to address the gap that is discussed above (Rowe & Carnelley, 2005). The Bull's Eye is on the basis of the Hierarchical Mapping Technique (HMT) (Antonucci, 1986), which is developed to study an individual's entire social network. Rowe and Carnelley (2005) modified and improved the HMT to concentrate on attachment relationships and also renamed the Bull's Eye diagrammatic technique. This new diagrammatic measure is significantly different from ranking scale, which allows for independent and continuous rating of network figures on ratio scale, but not ordinal scale (Rowe & Carnelley, 2005; Scharfe, 2020). Using the Bull's Eye, researchers are able to evaluate new indicators of attachment network structures, such as attachment strength and morphology (Freeman & Simons, 2018; Freeman et al., 2021). To complete the diagrammatic measure, participants need to put the paper dots onto a target with three concentric circles, and these paper dots represent the people that have the most important relationships with participants. The center of the target is marked as "core self," and participants are required to place each of the people a distance from their core self "in a way that is important to you" (Rowe & Carnelley, 2005, p. 503). Later, the Bull's Eye was replaced by a computer version (Freeman et al., 2021). The procedure is similar to the paper version, but drag and drop technology is used for the Bull's Eye diagram. A list of figures (i.e., mother, father, best friend, boy or girlfriend, and others) are given on the right of the diagram (Freeman et al., 2021). However, the Bull's Eye is cumbersome to manually deliver and score and has some problems in validity. Moreover, this diagrammatic measure cannot effectively distinguish young adult attachment cognitions and behaviors (safe haven, secure base, and proximity maintenance) from other behavioral systems such as identity exploration and companionship (Freeman et al., 2021).

Based on the limitation of the Bull's Eye, the Web-based Hierarchical Mapping Technique (WHMT) was developed and tested by Freeman's team (2018, 2021). This is a hierarchical mapping diagram of concentric circles with expanded analytic capability. The WHMT is a diagrammatic online measure that first asks participants to self-select 5 important people (from a dropdown menu) in their social support network. After selecting support figures, participants are shown a target diagram with three concentric circles. Participants are instructed to drag and drop five icons representing each of the self-selected support figures into the target area diagram so that the distance to the center represents how emotionally close they are to that support figure. Pixel distance between the center and each person is recorded. Next, participants complete a second version of the WHMT in which they place each figure a certain distance from the center that represents how close they live from the participant (Freeman et al., 2021). The WHMT can examine metrics beyond composition such as strength, morphology, physical closeness, and social network analysis metrics (i.e., density and centrality). For morphology, attachment hierarchical and nonhierarchical structure can be visually displayed. Moreover, differences between variations of morphology of the attachment network structure also can be identified (Freeman & Simons, 2018; Freeman et al., 2021).

#### Attachment Network Structures Based on the WHMT

Before the advent of the WHMT, no appropriate assessment has previously been found to explore the multidimensional structures in social networks with the availability to effectively connect the four metrics to adult mental health (composition, strength, morphology, and physical proximity) (Freeman & Simons, 2018; Freeman et al., 2021). In this study, the WHMT will be applied to address the gaps in the attachment literatures measuring adult attachment networks. It

also examines how the four facets of an attachment network inform adult mental health outcomes, especially in anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation.

#### Composition of the Network

The first metric examined in this study is the composition of the attachment network. A great number of the existing studies on attachment networks only concentrate on composition, with a stress on the primary figures in the hierarchy (Dougherty & Feeney, 2004; Fraley & Davis, 1997; Freeman & Simons, 2018; Hazan et al., 1991; Hazan & Shaver, 1994). Freeman and Simons (2018) suggest that researchers in attachment studies ignore the differences or complexities among the diverse types of structures in the attachment network when defining and examining only one metric (composition). The research on attachment networks has started to examine multiple dimensions and individual differences broadening attachment network study (Freeman & Simons, 2018; Mayseless, 2004; Pitman & Scharfe, 2010).

Most of the studies on attachment figures and mental health outcomes have concentrated on adolescent attachment networks since adolescence is a vital developmental stage and one of the most notable and prominent phases in all life transitions (Ainsworth, 1985; Gentina et al., 2016). Some research has suggested the connection or interaction of one's certain support figures, or lack of intimate relationships may be related with some mental health problems including anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation (Bryant, 2016; Christakis & Fowler, 2007; Leavy, 1983). If adolescents are not able to sustain close relationships and do not have a specific primary attachment figure (e.g., mothers or fathers), there will be an increased risk of social failure (Freeman & Simons, 2018). Furthermore, when parents are not accessible and friends or romantic partners are not primary attachment figures, adolescents may have a feeling of isolation, distress, and anxiety (Bowlby, 1969, 1982; Steinberg, 2001).

### Strength of the Network

The second metric explored in this study is the strength in the attachment network structure. Network strength is one of key factors but overlooked by the literature of attachment networks (Freeman & Simons, 2018; Freeman et al., 2021; Laible, Carol & Roesch, 2004). Strength of the network concentrates on a measure of the degree of closeness, which indicates how attachment figures in each relationship is close to an individual (Freeman & Simons, 2018). Strength is distinct from composition. Strength is embodied in the number of close network members, but composition can find expression in primary or top close figures in the network. Moreover, relative strength between network members can be also applied to understand the shape or variation of the network (morphology).

Cassidy (1994, 1999) connected the terminology "social penetration" to the strength of close relationships, which described how the process of penetration was associated with strength of network. The theory of social penetration refers to the process of relationship development from superficial communication to close communication between individuals (Altman & Taylor, 1973). The scope of close relationships (breadth) and the level of intimacy (depth) are the crucial factors that affect the penetration (Altman & Taylor, 1973). Attachment can integrate into multiple areas of life. The extent of penetration of attachment figures influences the metric of strength in the attachment network (the greater the penetration of attachment figures, the higher level of the strength metric in the attachment network) (Cassidy, 1999). However, people may have secondary attachment figures (further emotional distance) but with deeper penetration in their emotional life (from closer physical distance) compared with other people's primary attachment relationships (e.g., closer emotional distance but further physical distance). Based on this situation, the strength of secondary attachment figures may be stronger than primary figures.

Therefore, network strength is not always matched with ranking measures of attachment networks (the primary figure, the secondary figure, or the tertiary figure). The attachment figures that are placed on the top of the hierarchy does not always mean that they have stronger strength than other close figures in the network. All network members are independently rated on strength.

If people have closer attachment relationships in various areas of life, their strength for attachment figures will be greater. The concept of social penetration can be used to measure strength of an attachment network through identifying the number of close figures in one's support network that permeate into the individual's life. There is scant research on the metric of strength in the literature of attachment networks (Freeman et al., 2018; Rowe & Carnelley, 2005). Although Rowe and Carnelley (2005) discussed and investigated the strength of networks for the first time, they did not emphasize too much on the strength of attachment figures.

The lack of network strength between individuals and their attachment figures may cause emotional distress, anxiety, and social isolation (French & Conrad, 2001, Mikulincer & Shaver, 2007). Nevertheless, if adolescents have experience with intimate attachment support, they will be inclined to display healthy interactions with others and demonstrate empathy, emotional connection, and awareness (Laible, 2007; Laible et al., 2004). However, few literatures have investigated and examined the association between adult attachment networks and the outcomes of mental health (Laible et al., 2000; Millings et al., 2012). Based on the implications of adolescent attachment networks with mental health, this study will focus on adult attachment networks and further explore how adult network strength is connected with mental health.
### Morphology of the Network

The next metric investigated in the present study is morphology, that is, the shape of the network structure. Morphology of the network structure is closely correlated with the relative strength of a network through five closest network members (the degree to which network members are hierarchically or nonhierarchically organized) (Freeman & Simons, 2018). Morphology concentrates on four types of structural patterns. One of the patterns is nonhierarchical (without a clear hierarchy), and the rest of three are hierarchical. The hierarchical patterns consist of three types of network structures, including monotropic, joint principal, and diversified, but the nonhierarchical pattern only includes distributed network structure (Freeman & Simons, 2018). Monotropic structure in the network describes that one has a clear order of preference in the network structure and only concentrates on a single primary attachment figure (Bowlby, 1969, 1982; Cassidy, 2008; Freeman & Simons, 2018). Joint principal structure in the network indicates that an individual has two primary attachment figures and no differentiation between the figures (Freeman & Simons, 2018). Diversified structure is the last hierarchical pattern, which delineates that a person has a clear order or a differentiation of attachment figures between the primary and the secondary member and between the secondary and the tertiary figure in the network (Cassidy, 2008; Freeman & Simons, 2018). Lastly, the network with a distributed structure displays a nonhierarchical formation, which means the attachment members in the network lack differentiation (Freeman & Simons, 2018). In comparison with hierarchical structures, the distributed network does not have a clear order of attachment preference between the three closest relationships (Freeman & Simons, 2018).

Freeman and Simons' (2018) study is the only attachment literature so far that has discussed the assessment of morphology with four variations of structure patterns. Freeman and

Simons have introduced the close connection between attachment figures and the whole patterns finding significance in the multiple forms of the network structures. The research has also provided evidence to support the hypothesis that a nonhierarchical structure in adults' attachment networks may demonstrate an increased number of mental health issues (Freeman & Simons, 2018).

In addition, in the study of morphology in adolescent network structures, hierarchical patterns and nonhierarchical structure have predicted different results of mental health symptoms, such as depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation (Freeman & Simons, 2018). For instance, when one has shown difficulty establishing close relationships with others, the findings on nonhierarchical network structure has demonstrated the lack of adaptation and struggling to build and maintain close relationships (Freeman & Simons, 2018).

However, there is insufficient evidence to support the links between multiple attachment structures and the outcomes of adult mental health. Although Freeman and Simons' (2018) research provides precise and efficient data and analysis for describing three hierarchical models and one nonhierarchical structure, additional studies are still needed to understand the different structure patterns and connections to the outcomes of adult mental health (Cole et al., 2002; Doherty & Feeney, 2004; Freeman & Brown, 2001; Freeman & Simons, 2018; Friedlmeier & Granqvist, 2006). This study will fill in the gap.

#### **Physical Proximity of the Network**

The final metric discussed in the study is physical proximity, which is focused on the physical distance and geographical location of every network member in relation to each other. The key point in physical proximity is "distance," which is important to children and their caregivers and may affect the caregiving experience (Bei et al., 2022; Bowlby, 1969, 1982).

Physical proximity is crucial in attachment theory and to close relationships. Bowlby (1969, 1982) and Ainsworth's (1989, 1991) research has demonstrated that infants feel anxious and distressed when they are far away or separated from their primary caregivers, which causes insecure attachment. For children or adults, physical closeness to attachment figures in the networks provides a safe haven and a sense of safety (Bei et al., 2022; Ben-Ari, 2012; Kiesler & Cummings, 2002). Most studies on physical proximity have concentrated on the links between attachment styles in physical proximity and mental health outcomes (Shrivastava & Burianova, 2014; Takano & Mogi, 2019). However, only a little research has discussed physical distance in adult attachment regarding mental health outcomes (Feeney, 1998; Garrett et al., 2019). The present study will concentrate on physical proximity of networks in adult close relationships and further examine how it links to the issues of mental health.

### **Present Study**

This current study addressed the gaps in the literatures of attachment and close relationships in respect of how an attachment network informs the outcomes of mental health by using the WHMT. The WHMT provides more comprehensive analysis for attachment network figures compared with existing attachment studies. The whole process of the assessment is computer administered, scored, and analyzed. The four metrics of the network (composition, strength, morphology, physical proximity) were examined to explore the complex and multifaceted relationships between adult network figures. Specifically, emotional and physical distance between network members, and the form of their attachment networks were also included to explain mental health outcomes, including anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation. There is some limited support in the attachment literature that suggests an association between the organization of attachment network figures and mental health results. Furthermore,

relationships with some preferred attachment figures may also explain the connection of the network metrics with mental health outcomes (Freeman & Simons, 2018; Hazan & Zeifman, 1994). However, there has been little research to indicate some empirical evidence of these results.

#### Attachment Quality as a Moderating Variable and Other Potential Moderating Effects

A great number of attachment studies are focused on attachment style or quality as the predictor of mental health in close relationships (Bartholomew & Horowitz, 1991; Freeman & Almond, 2010; Freeman & Simons, 2018). Nevertheless, this study does not concentrate on attachment quality or style as the primary predictor, but rather use the quality of attachment as a moderating variable. The present study examines attachment quality as a moderator of the link between adult attachment network structures and mental health. Furthermore, the current study also look at other potential moderating effects, such as age, gender, and romantic relationship status.

According to the rationale of developmental age category, Medley's (1980) study has suggested the age demarcations based on four stages of adult life, including early adulthood (ages 22-34), early middle age (ages 35-44), late middle age (ages 45-64), and late adulthood (ages 65 and older). Medley (1980) examined life satisfaction across the four stages of adult life. These different age categories demonstrate that individuals go through the different stages of physical, cognitive, emotional, and social development, and these stages have distinct characteristics.

In early adulthood, this stage is characterized as a time of affirmation (Medley, 1980). Individuals seek affirmation of their status as mature (full-fledged) adults and assert the independence of their nuclear family (Medley, 1980). People in the age range of twenty-two to

thirty-four are likely to experience anxiety with financial stress. During the stage of early middle age, this age group is characterized as the notion of attainment. The common trend observed among individuals aged from thirty-five to forty-four is the emphasis on achievement, particularly in relation to their socioeconomic status (Medley, 1980). Early middle age is often regarded as the stage characterized as a time of considerable stress because of work and family. However, individuals between the ages of forty-five and sixty-four (late middle age) are likely to experience a realization of diminishing physical abilities and a decline in their overall health status, but with less mental health issues because of relatively stable work and family situations (Medley, 1980). In late adulthood, people who are sixty-five or older are prone to experiencing a sense of liberation or accession. Most people during this stage are retired and experience changes in the parent-child relationships. Late adulthood appears to be a period characterized by significant life satisfaction (Medley, 1980).

Normative trajectories in anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation across adulthood are similar. Anxiety tends to decrease with age, and the relative studies have reported that symptoms of anxiety usually peak during early adulthood and gradually decline as individuals grow older (Kessler et al., 2005). Nevertheless, the trajectory of depression is more complex and can vary among individuals. While depression can occur at any age, it tends to be more prevalent during adolescence and early adulthood. In midlife, there is often a decrease in depressive symptoms (Kessler et al., 2005). Additionally, suicidal ideation can be influenced by various factors across adulthood. Young adulthood is a period where suicidal ideation may be more prevalent due to significant life transitions or high stress levels. As individuals move into midlife and older adulthood, suicidal ideation tends to decrease (Kessler et al., 2005).

In addition, some empirical support in the pertinent literature has indicated that gender has a moderating effect on adolescent mental health (Carver et al., 2003; Davies & Windle, 2000; Freeman, 2017). Moreover, gender is also an essential and salient factor regarding mental health outcomes; in fact, there is a significant difference in anxiety and depression between females and males (Mojtabai et al., 2016; Twenge et al., 2015). It is also noteworthy that whether different age groups (e.g., young adults vs old adults) moderate the relation between the network structures and the outcomes of mental health.

### Summary

Close relationships and attachment literatures encompassing network structure and mental health issues indicates that it is reasonable to assume that attachment network structures and related patterns are associated with adult internalizing problems, such as anxiety, distress, depression, and suicidal ideation. Up to now, little research has been focused on how the four metrics in this study affect adult attachment networks and illuminate mental health problems. Differences and variations in the structures and patterns of network structures are displayed in the pertinent literature and illustrate a connection to mental health issues. It is important to comprehend the primary, secondary, tertiary network members in adult attachment networks, which may provide a basic understanding and lay a foundation for how the network structures are formed. Based on limited or incomplete studies on adult close relationships and attachment network patterns, it is crucial and significant to explore and examine the associations between attachment networks and outcomes of adult mental health (Freeman & Simons, 2018; Freeman et al., 2021).

### **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

Composition-

H1: Young adults between 24 to 35 years of age will identify parents as primary attachment figures more often than older adults.

H2: Adults greater than 65 years of age will identify children as attachment figures more than adults younger than 65.

Q1: Do different attachment figures across different age groups positively explain differentiations/differences in mental health?

Strength-

Q2: Does attachment strength for different age groups or sex categories explain differences in adult mental health outcomes, including anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation?

Morphology-

Q3: Does network morphology (monotropic, joint principal, diversified, or distributed network structure pattern) for different age groups or sex categories explain differences in the outcomes of adult mental health, including anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation? Physical Proximity/Distance-

Q4: Does physical distance (proximity) for different age groups or sex categories explain differences in adult mental health symptoms, specifically in anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation?

### **Chapter Three: Methods**

### Overview

This chapter presents a description of the sample, procedures, methods, the detailed information of the research participants (sample), processes, related measures, data collection, and plan of analysis.

### **Participants**

The participants in this study were recruited online by using a convenience sampling method. Two online surveys were used (i.e., the WHMT and a Qualtrics survey), and it was finally posted to the Cloud Research platform. Participating in the study was voluntary. All the identifying information (i.e., Amazon Mechanical Turk-MTurk Worker ID) that the participants provided was stored separately from their survey responses, and their names or any other identifying information were confidential and not associated with the study results. Anonymity was important and indispensable in order to protect participants' identity at Institutional Review Board (IRB) standards. The sample included 1021 adults (583 females) aged from 24 to 80 (M = 42.9), who completed the Web-Based Hierarchical Mapping Technique, a diagrammatic measure of attachment network composition, strength, morphology, and physical proximity (WHMT, Freeman et al., 2021; Freeman & Simon, 2018). From the cross-sectional study, the participants represented a diverse group of individuals (e.g., race, economy, educational level). There were 49 % participants living in suburban areas with their romantic partners or spouses. The respondents also reported their romantic relationship status and the duration of current relationship to their partners. The number of respondents currently are married (N = 454, 44.5%) compared to those who were not romantically involved with someone or dating (N = 283, 27.7%). The length of time in a current relationship ranged from "less than one month" (0.2%) to "eight years or more" (43.7%). There was missing data for some of the questions, but most of them were considered valid. The participants completed the online survey in their own place with more than 90% completion rate. I tested the attachment networks in context and the WHMT data collection multiple times before launching it for data collection online.

#### Power Analysis (Multivariate Analysis of Variance (MANOVA) and Multiple Regression)

I conducted two statistical power analyses, which included MANOVA and multiple regression (Faul et al., 2007). G\*Power was launched, and "MANOVA: Special effects and interactions" option under the "A priori: F Tests" category was selected. The effect size of 0.15 was used as a value to measure the strength of the relationship between two groups. The level of significance ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ) and the desired power (1- $\beta = 0.80$ ) were set respectively. The results of the power analysis indicated that a minimum sample size of 52 participants for this research would be necessary to detect the desired effect with 80% power while controlling the probability of a Type II error at 5%. These results suggest that the proposed sample size is sufficient to detect meaningful effects (Faul et al., 2007).

Based on the power analysis of multiple linear regression ("multiple regression: fixed model" option under the "a priori: linear regression), The effect size (Cohen's  $f^2$ ) of 0.15 was set. The alpha level of 0.05 was also used as the level of significance, and the statistical power was not changed which was set at  $1-\beta = 0.80$ . The results of the power analysis suggested that a minimum sample size of 99 participants for this study would be necessary to detect the desired effect with 80% power while controlling the probability of a Type II error at 5%. These results also demonstrate that the proposed sample size is sufficient to detect meaningful effects (Faul et al., 2007).

### Procedure

All the data responses (The WHMT and attachment networks in context) were collected electronically. After I got approval from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of the University of South Dakota, I used the crowdsourcing platform Amazon's Mechanical Turk (MTurk) in conjunction with Cloud Research MTurk Toolkit to recruit and conduct all contact with the participants. The selection criteria of the study population included all adults (i.e., males, females, university students, employees, and others) aged from 24-80 with diverse ethnic groups (i.e., American Indian, African American, Caucasian, Asian, and others). Another inclusionary criterion included the participants who were currently living in the same residence in which they have lived during most of the COVID-19 Pandemic. Once screened and consented, the participants enrolled in the study through an online consent form, followed by the WHMT (5 minutes), and a 25-minute Qualtrics survey. I asked the participants to enter their worker ID for each survey (i.e., WHMT and Qualtrics survey).

The research team also explained the benefits, possible risks, and compensation to the participants of the study in the informed consent form. Other contact information for the study was provided as well. In order to incentivize completion of the two online measures, the participants were compensated \$2.50 for completing the survey. There were also attention checks throughout the survey, such as (1) I have been to every country in the world, (2) I sleep less than one hour per night, and (3) I do not understand a word of English. If the participants did not pass 3 of the 4 attention checks, they would not be eligible for the compensation.

### **Data Collection**

Five researchers (four student investigators and one principal investigator) participated in the data collection process by creating the online survey of attachment networks and using the

WHMT assessment that was modified by the principal investigator of the study. The WHMT assessment is a newly validated measure of attachment network structure that utilizes ratio scaling to assess four separate metrics of attachment networks, including composition, strength, morphology, and physical proximity. The participants completed a modified version of the WHMT that measures the respondents' physical distance and relative geographic location to each of their five closest network members (Freeman et al., 2021). After completing the WHMT, the participants completed a Qualtrics survey that included extensive questions on participant demographics, mental health scales, and attachment relationships. The survey included questions about the respondents' emotional connection to the people closest to them and to their place of residence. Furthermore, I also asked sensitive questions about the participants' mental health on experiences with anxiety, depression, and thoughts of suicide. To link the surveys, participants entered their MTurk ID at the beginning of each survey. The data that were used for analysis were part of a larger study examining the normative structure of adult attachment networks.

### Measures

This study applied the newly adapted web-based assessment to collect data with a large adult population that investigated the four metrics: network composition, strength, morphology, and physical proximity and the correlation with the four facets regarding the outcomes of adult mental health. The survey included thirteen different scales of measurement on four, five, and seven-point Likert scales. The crucial scales that were used in this study included the assessment tool of the WHMT (Freeman et al., 2021), Experiences of Close Relationships-Revised-General Short Form (ECR-R-GSF, Wilkinson, 2011), the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9, Kroenke et al., 2002), Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7, Spitzer et al., 2006), and the Suicide Behaviors Questionnaire-Revised (SBQ-R, Osman et al., 1999).

### **Demographics**

The following demographic information was assessed, which included respondents' age, gender/sex, ethnicity, socioeconomic status (SES), and romantic relationship status. People who were considered as participants' closest attachment figures (primary attachment) were reported as well.

The participants reported their romantic relationship status. The descriptions of relationship status included six options: (1) Not currently romantically involved with someone or dating, (2) Dating one person but we are not seriously involved, (3) Dating one person and we are seriously involved, but we are not living together, (4) Living with my partner, but we are not married, (5) Engaged to be married, (6) Married. Moreover, the respondents were also asked to report on the duration of the current relationship to their partner, and the options were included from "less than one month" to "eight years or more".

### The Web-Based Hierarchical Mapping Technique (The WHMT)

The WHMT assessment is a newly developed and computer-based measure of attachment network structure that uses ratio scaling to examine the structure of attachment social networks (WHMT, Freeman et al., 2021). Primary and other attachment figures were recognized to address composition, strength, morphology, and physical proximity. Composition in attachment network structures was measured by the primary attachment figure(s). Attachment strength was examined by two variables, which included the number of attachment figures and the average emotional distance score for the three highest rated attachment figures or all five close figures (centrality). Four variations for morphology were determined by the shape of the attachment network structure. Physical proximity (distance) was measured by calculating the pixels to describe physical distance and geographical location of every network member in relation to

each other (Freeman et al., 2021; Freeman & Simon, 2018). The WHMT is concentrated on the measurement of the distance to the center of the network and between each one of the attachment members in one's attachment network. Furthermore, the WHMT assessment also provides a method to measure the number of attachment figures in the center of the concentric circle. The participants need to choose five closest people they feel have the most impact on their life from a list of relationship categories (i.e., "mother", "father", "romantic partner", "best friend(s)", and so on) or may enter other figures narrative in their current life into the circle to show how close the members are to "yourself".

The recent study on attachment networks demonstrated the WHMT with strong test-retest validity and reliability (Freeman et al., 2018, 2021; Harper, 2020). Moreover, the Hierarchical Mapping Technique (HMT) was validated by Rowe and Carnelley (2005) since the WHMT was adapted from the HMT. The WHMT also displayed construct validity when Freeman et al., (2018) tested with a young adult population.

### Experiences of Close Relationships-Revised-General Short Form (ECR-R-GSF)

The Experiences of Close Relationships Questionnaire Survey (ECR-R-GSF, Wilkinson, 2011) is a twenty-item self-report survey and widely applied to measure attachment experiences in all relationships (i.e., family members, friends, romantic partners, and others). ECR-R-GSF was designed and modified based on the scale of Experiences of Close Relationships-Revised (ECR-R) (Fraley et al., 2000; Wilkinson, 2011). Eleven out of the twenty items in ECR-R-GSF were finally applied in this study. The questions of the questionnaire are linked to the respondents' closest relationships. The respondents need to respond to each statement by indicating how much they agree or disagree. Each item of the scale is on the basis of 7-point Likert from 7 (strongly disagree) to 1 (strongly agree).

The internal consistency reliability of the general ECR-R scale (Cronbach's α) tended to be 0.9 or higher, which was regarded as an excellent level (Fraley et al., 2000). The internal consistency reliability of this scale indicated Cronbach's alpha at over 0.80, which was considered as a very good level (Sibley & Liu, 2004). The inter-rater reliability (intraclass correlation coefficient, 0.82; 95% CI, 0.80-0.83) was high (Fraley et al., 2000; Wilkinson, 2011).

### The Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9)

The Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9, Kroenke et al., 2002) is a nine-item self-report depression scale. PHQ-9 is used to measure people's frequency of suicidal ideation and the severity of depressive disorders or symptoms (Kroenke et al., 2002). The response format of the scale ranges from 0 (not at all) to 3 (nearly every day). Each item of the scale is based on the question "Over the last two weeks, how often have you been bothered by any of the following situations or problems?" The items briefly describe different situations or problems, such as (1) little interest or pleasure in doing things, (2) feeling down, depressed, or hopeless, and (3) trouble falling or staying asleep, or sleep too much. Additionally, the level of seriousness of depression is measured at the end of the PHQ-9 scale. The assessment is related to the question "If you checked off any problems, how difficult have these problems made it for you to do your work, take care of things at home, or get along with other people?" The options of the assessment include (1) "not difficult at all", (2) "somewhat difficult", (3) "very difficult", or (4) "extremely difficult".

According to the validity and reliability of the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9, Kroenke et al., 2002), internal consistency reliability: Cronbach's alpha was found to be 0.88, which was considered a very satisfactory level. Most studies reported the inter-rater reliability

(intraclass correlation coefficient, 0.89; 95% CI, 0.86-0.95) was high. The PHQ-9 indicated a sensitivity of 88% and a specificity of 88% for major depressive disorders (Kroenke et al., 2002).

### **Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7)**

Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7, Spitzer et al., 2006) is a seven-item self-report anxiety scale. GAD-7 has high reliability and validity support and is developed to examine individuals' severity of anxiety symptoms (Löwe et al., 2008; Spitzer et al., 2006). The response format of the scale ranges from 0 (not at all) to 3 (nearly every day). Each item of the assessment is also on the basis of the question: "Over the last two weeks, how often have you been bothered by any of the following situations or problems?" The items also simply delineate different situations or problems, such as (1) feeling nervous, anxious, or on edge, (2) not being able to stop or control worrying, and (3) worrying too much about different things. Furthermore, the level of seriousness of anxiety is measured at the end of the GAD-7 scale. The measurement is also relevant to the question: "If you checked off any problems, how difficult have these problems made it for you to do your work, take care of things at home, or get along with other people?" The options of the assessment include (1) "not difficult at all", (2) "somewhat difficult", (3) "very difficult", or (4) "extremely difficult".

Based on the validity and reliability of Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale (GAD-7, Spitzer et al., 2006), internal consistency reliability: Cronbach's alpha was at 0.92, which was considered an excellent level. The inter-rater reliability (intraclass correlation coefficient, 0.92; 95% CI, 0.91-0.93) was high. The results from previous studies indicated sensitivity and specificity ranged from 0.72 to 0.89 and 0.83 to 0.91 separately (Kroenke et al., 2002).

### The Suicide Behaviors Questionnaire-Revised (SBQ-R)

The Suicide Behaviors Questionnaire-Revised (SBQ-R, Osman et al., 1999) is a fouritem psychological self-report questionnaire survey. SBQ-R has strong reliability and validity support and is designed to examine and recognize people's risk factors and behaviors for suicidal ideation (SBQ-R, Osman et al., 1999). The survey included the four questions with a different dimension of suicidality (i.e., lifetime suicide ideation and/or suicide attempt, the frequency of suicidal ideation over the past year, the threat of suicide attempt, and self-reported likelihood of suicidal behavior someday in the future). The item response format of the survey ranges from 0 (never or not at all) to 4-6 (very often or likely), and the respondents are required to check one option only.

On the basis of the validity and reliability of the Suicide Behaviors Questionnaire-Revised (SBQ-R, Osman et al., 1999), internal consistency reliability: Cronbach's alpha was over 0.80, which was considered a very good level. The inter-rater reliability (intraclass correlation coefficient, 0.82; 95% CI, 0.80-0.84) was high. The SBQ-R survey had a sensitivity of 93% and a specificity of 95% for major anxious symptoms (adult general population) (SBQ-R, Osman et al., 1999).

### **Plan Analysis Procedures**

Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS, version 28) was applied for the data analysis after the investigation of the study was completed. The data collected from the two online measures was screened, and the data cleaning was completed for the statistical analysis. In the next step, missing data was filtered and cleaned as well. Multivariate Analysis of Covariance (MANCOVA) and Hierarchical Multiple Regression procedures (HMR) were utilized and conducted to analyze the cross-sectional data.

### **Descriptives and Assumption Checks**

The demographics that were summarized in this study included age, sex, and romantic relationship status. I used descriptive statistics to summarize the distribution of each demographic characteristic, such as mean, median, mode, and standard deviation. Frequency distributions were also applied to determine the number and percentage of individuals in each category for each demographic characteristic. Moreover, I also provided descriptive statistics for each of the WHMT factors (i.e., composition, strength, morphology, and physical distance) in the same approach as demographics.

I examined internal reliability, validity, normality, central tendency, and variance for each of the study scales (i.e., ECR-R-GSF, PHQ-9, GAD-7, and SBQ-R). Internal reliability (e.g., Cronbach's alpha and test-retest reliability) can assess the consistency and stability of the measure. The accuracy of the measure is determined by checking its validity (e.g., construct validity and content validity). If any of the measures felt below acceptable reliability, I would conduct further reliability analysis and potentially drop problematic items. The scales for problematic outliers were checked as well. Normality, central tendency, and variance were essential aspects of the distribution of scores on the study scales. I used the Shapiro-Wilk test to assess whether the scores on the study scales were normally distributed. Central tendency was measured through calculating the mean, median, and mode. Finally, the standard deviation was applied to measure variance.

### *Hypothesis 1: Young adults between 24 to 35 years of age will identify parents as primary attachment figures more often than older adults.*

The Chi-square test for association tests was run for this hypothesis. A chi-square test for association was conducted between age ranges and attachment figures. All expected cell frequencies were greater than five. In this case, the categorical independent variable with two values included (1) 24-35 years of age and (2) greater than 35 years of age. (1) Parents and (2) non-parents were the two values as categorical dependent variables. The variable of frequency (the number of participants for each cell combination) was set up as well. The weight case and crosstabs procedures were conducted in SPSS. The age ranges multiply the attachment figures crosstabulation table was designated to examine the difference between the expected and observed frequencies in each cell.

### Hypothesis 2: Adults greater than 65 years of age will identify children as attachment figures more than adults younger than 65.

The Chi-square test for association tests was also used for this hypothesis. In this case, the categorical independent variable with two values contained (1) between 36 and 65 years of age and (2) greater than 65 years of age. (1) Parents and (2) non-parents were the two values as categorical dependent variables. The variable of frequency (the number of participants for each cell combination) was also created. The weight case and crosstabs procedures were conducted in SPSS. The age ranges multiply the attachment figures crosstabulation table was displayed to analyze the difference between the expected and observed frequencies in each cell.

### Research Question 1: Do different attachment figures across different age groups positively explain differentiations/differences in mental health?

For attachment composition, the Multivariate Analysis of Covariance (MANCOVA) was run to test effects of composition (categorical independent variable) on depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation (dependent variables). Age, sex, and romantic relationship status were used as factors. Moreover, SES and attachment quality (ECR) were applied as covariates. The variable of composition was operationalized as the categorical independent variable (i.e., parents, nonparents, romantic partners, friends, and others), and the outcome variables include three continuous variables. I assumed there were moderate intercorrelations among depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation. Therefore, these outcomes were entered into a single Multivariate Analysis of Covariance procedure rather than running separate ANCOVAs. The assumption checks of the MANCOVA in this study include independence of observations, univariate or multivariate outliers, multivariate normality, homogeneity of variance, assumptions of linear relationships, and multicollinearity. The observations in each group have to be independent of each other, which means that the relationship between the observations in each group of the independent variable (i.e., parents, non-parents, romantic partners, friends, and others) are not related or connected. Univariate or multivariate outliers were checked, and the Shapiro-Wilk test was used for normality tests. Levene's test was examined for homogeneity of variance, I assumed that there would be equal variances between the groups of the independent variable (i.e., attachment figures) for each independent variable (i.e., depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation). Multicollinearity was also looked at, and I assumed that the dependent variables would be at least moderately correlated with each other. If anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation were correlated below 0.4, I would run separate ANCOVAs (Analysis of Covariance) for each dependent variable.

## Research Question 2: Does attachment strength for different age groups or sex categories explain differences in adult mental health outcomes, including anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation?

Hierarchical multiple regression was employed to test this question. The regression is an essential framework for model comparison that is exerted to analyze and indicate if the independent variables of the study explain a statistically significant amount of variance in regard to the dependent variables after considering for all other variables. The analysis was examined to determine whether the results of adult mental health (i.e., PHQ-9, GAD-7, and SBQ-R) were predicted by attachment strength (i.e., the number of attachment figures and emotional distance).

The control variables (i.e., age, sex, and romantic relationship status) were entered in the first block of the regression. The number of attachment figures and emotional distance (the centrality of top three figures) were added in the second block of the regression. I also created interaction terms as the third block of the regression, including the ECR x the number of attachment figures, sex x the number of attachment figures, and romantic relationship status x the number of attachment figures. In addition, the assumption checks in regression analysis were also conducted, which included linearity, normality, homoscedasticity, independence, and multicollinearity. By running these important assumption checks, I ensured the data were appropriate for conducting statistical analysis, and the results of the analysis were accurate and meaningful.

# Research Question 3: Does network morphology (monotropic, joint principal, diversified, or distributed network structure pattern) for different age groups or sex categories explain differences in the outcomes of adult mental health, including anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation?

The MANCOVA was also applied to examine effects of all network structures (i.e., monotropic, joint principal, diversified, or distributed) as categorical variables on depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation (dependent variables). Age, sex, and romantic relationship status were used as factors for morphology. Attachment quality (ECR) was employed as a covariate. The same assumption checks were examined for both composition and morphology.

# Research Question 4: Does physical distance (proximity) for different age groups or sex categories explain differences in adult mental health symptoms, specifically in anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation?

To examine physical proximity, I run another hierarchical multiple regression to assess whether the outcomes of adult mental health (i.e., depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation) were predicted by physical proximity (i.e., centrality). Centrality referred to how close the figures are to the respondent, which was calculated by the pixel distance between the respondent (center) and the top three figures. Choosing the top three attachment figures allows researchers to focus on the most significant and meaningful relationships in an individual's attachment network. By examining the characteristics of the top three attachment figures, researchers can gain a better understanding of the qualities that are most important to individuals in their attachment relationships (i.e., proximity maintenance, safe haven, and secure base). The control variables (i.e., age, sex, and romantic relationship status) were still added in the first block. Physical distance (centrality) and attachment quality (ECR) were entered in the second block. Interaction terms based on the demographic characteristics were conducted as the third block (i.e., age x distance, sex x distance, and romantic relationship status x distance). The interaction between attachment quality and physical distance was also created in the fourth block. The same assumption checks were tested for both attachment strength and physical proximity.

### **Chapter Four: Results**

### Overview

This chapter includes an interpretation of the descriptive and inferential statistics, the study findings, and a summary.

### **Missing Data**

There were 1,021 respondents who enrolled in the current study. However, some data on the WHMT assessment was missing, and only a part of the WHMT assessment was displayed in SPSS because of server issues. The server issue had nothing to do with SPSS, but it interfered with participant data being recorded from the internet when they completed the survey. The missing data mainly included the composition of attachment networks and the pixel distance for calculating strength and physical proximity (n = 91). Fifteen respondents were missing all the WHMT data (e.g., case number: 854, 1, 218, 789, 842, 764), and the rest of the respondents (n =76) were missing part of the WHMT data (e.g., case number: 339, 160, 506, 64, 362, 512). A significant amount of incomplete WHMT data was removed from the study in order to improve accuracy, validity, and maintain error-free data. The valid sample size was 930, which was used for descriptive and inferential statistics and related analyses.

#### **Descriptive Statistics**

Descriptive statistics were used to report the age (see Table 1), sex (see Table 2), romantic relationship status (see Table 3), and socioeconomic status (SES; see Table 4) of participants. In addition, all study variables including independent and dependent (outcome) variables were indicated (see Table 5, 6, 7, 9, 10).

Four frequency tables (see Table 1-4) were generated for the demographic variables (i.e., age, sex, romantic relationship status, and socioeconomic status). The age of participants was

divided into four different age groups based on the rationale of developmental age category (Medley, 1980). According to the diverse age groups, male and female had a similar distribution and percentage in each group. The male group had the highest number of people in the early middle age group of 35-44 (n = 145, 36.2 %). Nevertheless, the female group had the largest number of people in the late middle age group of 45-64 (n = 171, 32.3%). The number of married respondents (n = 422, 45.4%) were compared to those who were not married (n = 144, 15.5%). The participants who were not romantically involved with someone or dating had the second largest number of people (n = 253, 27.2%). However, those who were dating with one person had the smallest number of people (n = 111, 11.9%).

In addition, the SES of participants was categorized as working class, lower-middle class, middle class, and upper-middle class (Wani, 2019). Wani's (2019) study discussed how scores that were assigned for each criterion varied based on the level of education, income, and occupation to calculate the SES. Wani (2019) used a modified Kuppuswamy scale to measure the SES, and the categories of educational level were very similar to the scale that I used in this study. However, the categories of income level were based on the monthly income, which displayed higher weighted number of income level than our scale. Therefore, I converted the income level from monthly to annually and matched the score with the categories that I used in this study. The total score of the SES for each participant (i.e., income and educational level) was calculated, and the average score of the two levels was used and converted into a combined SES (Wani, 2019). Almost half of the participants were in the lower-middle class (n = 240, 25.8%).

Composition is the first network metric. In this study, the composition variable was on the basis of "vulnerable self," which referred to how important the attachment figure was to participants when participants were feeling vulnerable (i.e., felt insecure, unprotected, or emotionally or physically hurt). Table 5 illustrates the frequency and the percentage of respondents that rated diverse categories of important figures as their top three attachment figures (i.e., primary, secondary, tertiary) from 21 available options (i.e., mother, father, romantic partner, best friend and so on). The options of attachment figures were collapsed into five different categories, which included parents (i.e., mother, father, stepmother, and stepfather), nonparents (i.e., brother, sister, aunt, uncle, and grandparents), romantic partners, best friends, and others (i.e., teacher, coach, counselor, son, daughter and so on). Primary attachment to a romantic partner was most common (n = 449, 48.3%), followed by parents (n = 199, 21.4%), best friends, (n = 127, 13.7%), and nonparents (n = 93, 10%). Moreover, parents (n = 316, 34%) and nonparents (n = 291, 31.3%) were most selected as secondary and tertiary attachment respectively.

Furthermore, I broke these primary attachment figures down by the various age groups (i.e., early adulthood, early middle age, late middle age, and late adulthood). Romantic partners were identified as the primary attachment figure for the majority of individuals in any of the age groups. Surprisingly, the proportion of adults who identified their mother as the primary attachment figure had no significant differences in the age groups of early adulthood, early middle age, and late middle age. Nevertheless, individuals who identified others as the primary attachment figure had the highest percentage in the late adulthood (n = 19, 30.6%) compared with those who did in the age group of early adulthood (n = 41, 14.2%) and early middle age group (n = 40, 13.2%). Individuals who selected "others" tended to identify their children as their primary attachment figure; this suggested that children might become increasingly important with age.

Attachment strength, the second network metric for this study, could be measured by the number of attachment figures or emotional distance. Emotional distance was calculated by the average pixel distance of emotional closeness to the center of the WHMT (centrality) among top three figures or all five figures. For the measurement of number of attachment figures, I used a cut-off score to determine the number of attachment figures that placed in the inner circle of the WHMT diagram. Sixty pixels was calculated as the radius of the inner concentric circle and applied as an essential cut-off score. For instance, if the primary figure was equal or less than 60 pixels and the secondary figure was greater than 60 pixels, one attachment figure was indicated (Freeman et al., 2021). It should be noticed that when 60 pixels of the icon was half in the first and the second inner circle, more than half of the icon should be in the first circle to be labeled an attachment figure. Table 6 demonstrates the frequency and the percentage of the number of figures that respondents placed near the center of the diagram. Most of the participants had two attachment figures (n = 310, 33.3%), and the second most common response was one attachment figure (n = 282, 30.3%). Table 9 indicates the mean, the standard deviation, and the test of Shapiro-Wilk P of the number of attachment figures. The average number of attachment figures was 1.96 (M = 1.96, SD = 1.21). In the test of Shapiro-Wilk P, the p-value of the variable was 0.905 (p > 0.05). Therefore, the variable was normally distributed.

The third attachment network metric, morphology, was measured in terms of four types of structural patterns. One of the patterns was nonhierarchical (without a clear hierarchy), and the rest of three were hierarchical. The hierarchical patterns consisted of three types of network structures, including monotropic (a primary figure), joint principal (no difference between top two figures), and diversified (differentiation between a primary and secondary figure and between a secondary and tertiary figure), but the nonhierarchical pattern only included

distributed network structure (no preference) (Freeman & Simons, 2018). The network structures were converted and determined based on a cut-off value that indicated a meaningful difference between attachment figures (Freeman et al., 2021). The black icon of each figure measured 18 pixels in radius. Therefore, the cut-off score for considering an attachment figure to be close enough to create one of the four morphology patterns was set at fifteen pixels from another black icon. Table 7 shows the frequency and the percentage of each attachment network structure. More than 40 percent of the respondents had diversified network structures (n = 393, 42.3%). There were over one fourth of the respondents who had monotropic network structures (n = 256, 27.5%).

The fourth attachment network metric, physical proximity (distance), was assessed by the pixel distance between attachment figures and participants (centrality). There were two different ways for calculating the physical distance of centrality, which included the average pixel distance of top three figures or all five figures to the respondent. Table 10 indicates the descriptive statistics for physical distance. The mean physical distance of centrality for top three figures was similar to the distance of only secondary figures to the participant (M = 58.60 and 63.86, SD = 37.57 and 50.07). Based on the Shapiro-Wilk P test, the variable of physical proximity was normally distributed (P = 0.820, p > 0.05).

A correlation matrix was also created to examine whether the age, sex, SES, attachment quality (ECR), attachment strength, morphology of network structures, and physical distance were significantly associated with the outcome variables (see Table 8). Age and SES were statistically and negatively correlated with the mental health outcomes. Older adults and higher SES were connected with less depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation. Nevertheless, sex was statistically and positively correlated with the results of mental health, which indicated that

female participants were more likely to have depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation than male participants. Attachment insecurity (ECR) was positively and significantly correlated with depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation. The higher score of ECR (a more insecure attachment style) was associated with worse mental health status (higher score). Additionally, the number of attachment figures, emotional distance, and attachment hierarchy were all predictive of mental health outcomes.

In addition, the internal consistency reliability for all the continuous scales was examined in terms of Cronbach's Alpha (see Table 9). The internal consistency reliability of the ECR-R scale in this study (Cronbach's  $\alpha$ ) was 0.82, which was regarded as a very good level. I had 7 items for the anxious scale (Cronbach's  $\alpha = 0.94$ ) and 4 items for the avoidant scale. Given the few avoidant items, the reliability of avoidant scale was a little lower, but still more than acceptable at 0.82 (Cronbach's  $\alpha = 0.82$ ). The inter-rater reliability of the ECR-R scale (intraclass correlation coefficient, 0.82; 95% CI, 0.80-0.83) was high. For PHQ-9, Cronbach's alpha was found to be 0.89, which was considered a very satisfactory level. The inter-rater reliability of 0.89 (95% CI, 0.88-0.90) was high. Based on the validity and reliability of GAD-7, internal consistency reliability: Cronbach's alpha was at 0.92, which was considered an excellent level. The inter-rater reliability (intraclass correlation coefficient, 0.92; 95% CI, 0.92-0.93) was high. Additionally, internal consistency reliability of SBQ-R: Cronbach's alpha was over 0.82, which was considered a very good level. The inter-rater reliability (intraclass correlation coefficient, 0.82; 95% CI, 0.80-0.84) was also high.

### *Hypothesis 1: Young adults between 24 to 35 years of age will identify parents as primary attachment figures more often than older adults.*

Hypothesis one focused on the connection between the age groups (24-35 years of age and greater than 35 years of age) and the composition of network structures (parents and nonparents). A chi-square test for association was conducted between the two age ranges and primary attachment figures (see Table 11). All expected cell frequencies were greater than five, and the minimum expected count was 65.74. There was a not statistically significant association between the age groups and primary attachment figures,  $\chi^2(1) = 1.109$ , p = 0.292 (p > .05). Based on the Fisher's Exact test, the result was the same as Pearson's chi-square test (p = 0.293). Overall, there was no association between the two different age ranges and primary attachment figures,  $\varphi = 0.033$ , p = 0.292 (see Table 12). Furthermore, although individuals considered their romantic partner as the primary attachment figure in the different age groups, the results from choosing parents as the primary attachment figure illustrated that there were no significant differences in the groups of early adulthood, early middle age, and late middle age. Therefore, there was no sufficient evidence that young adults between 24 to 35 years of age would identify parents as primary attachment figures more often than older adults.

### Hypothesis 2: Adults greater than 65 years of age will identify children as attachment figures more than adults younger than 65.

Hypothesis two concentrated on the association between the adult age groups (between 36 and 65 years of age and greater than 65 years of age) and the composition of network structures (parents and nonparents). Children (i.e., son, daughter, grandson, and granddaughter) as attachment figures were explored. The option of "children" was not listed in the WHMT assessment; participants had to write the relationship of children as their attachment figure in the category of "others," which was also included in the category of "nonparents". Based on the number of people selected in "others," 24.4% of the people in early adulthood (n = 10) identified their children as attachment figures. In early middle age, 37.5% of the adults (n = 15) had an attachment to their children. For late middle age, 27.3% of individuals (n = 15) were attached to their children.

A chi-square test for association was also applied between the two age ranges and attachment figures (see Table 13). No expected cell frequencies were less than five, and the minimum expected count was 21.37. There was a statistically significant association between the age groups and attachment figures,  $\chi^2(1) = 14.295$ , p < .001. Based on the Fisher's Exact test, the result was the same as Pearson's chi-square test (p < .001). Moreover, the symmetric measures indicated that there was a moderate connection between the two different age ranges and attachment figures,  $\varphi = 0.145$ , p < .001 (see Table 14). According to the table of composition by age, the results indicated adults who selected "others" tended to identify their children as their primary attachment figure in the age group of late adulthood had the largest proportion (*n* = 12, 63.2%). Thus, the results of analysis provided related support that adults greater than 65 years of age would identify children as attachment figures more than adults younger than 65.

### Research Question 1: Do different attachment figures across different age groups positively explain differentiations/differences in mental health?

The purpose of this research question was to explore the connections between the composition of attachment networks (the choice of primary attachment figure) and adult mental health outcomes. There were moderate intercorrelations (above 0.4) among depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation. Therefore, a single Multivariate Analysis of Covariance (MANCOVA) procedure was performed to examine the associations between primary attachment choice (i.e., romantic partners, parents, nonparents, best friends, and others) and anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation. Moreover, SES and attachment quality (ECR) were applied as covariates. Age, sex, and romantic relationship status were used as factors to determine the moderating effects between the composition and the results of adult mental health.

Preliminary assumption checks indicated that data was normally distributed based on Shapiro-Wilk test (p < .001). There were no multivariate outliers, as tested by box plot outliers. According to Box's M test of equality of covariance matrices, there were not equal variancecovariance matrices (p < .001). Therefore, Pillai's trace criterion in the multivariate test was used because the assumption of MANCOVA was violated. Furthermore, based on the Levene's test of equality of error variances, depression (F(124, 805) = 1.56, p < .001), anxiety (F(124, 805) =1.52, p < .001), and suicidal ideation (F(124, 805) = 1.90, p < .001) were statistically significant, which revealed significant differences between the variances and violated the assumption of homogeneity of variance. To address the assumption violation, I could transform the data to reduce the variability and bring the variances closer to each other.

According to the omnibus test, the primary attachment figure, F (12, 2409) = 0.91, p = 0.533, Pillai's V = 0.01,  $\eta^2$  = 0.005, on the combine dependent variables (mental health results) was not statistically significant. However, the effect of attachment quality (ECR) on the combined mental health outcomes was statistically significant, F (3, 801) = 147.03, p < .001, Pillai's V = 0.36,  $\eta^2$  = 0.355. Sex also had a statistically significant effect on the combined mental health results, F (3, 801) = 3.30, p = 0.02, Pillai's V = 0.01,  $\eta^2 = 0.012$ . Nevertheless, SES (F (3, 801) = 2.43, p = 0.064, Pillai's V = 0.01,  $\eta^2$  = 0.009), age (F (9, 2409) = 1.09, p = 0.367, Pillai's V = 0.01,  $\eta^2$  = 0.004), and romantic relationship status (F (9, 2409) = 1.29, p = 0.239, Pillai's V = 0.01,  $\eta^2$  = 0.005) on the combine dependent variables were not statistically significant. Additionally, the interactions between composition and age, composition and sex, and composition and romantic relationship status had no statistically significant effects either. Furthermore, the multivariate test (see Table 15) demonstrated a nonsignificant difference between the choice of primary attachment figure (parents versus romantic partners) and depression (F (4, 930) = 1.18, p = 0.32,  $\eta^2$  = 0.006), anxiety (F (4, 930) = 1.71, p = 0.15,  $\eta^2$  = 0.008), or suicidal ideation (F (4, 930) = 0.89, p = 0.47,  $\eta^2$  = 0.004). Furthermore, different age groups and choice of primary attachment figure had no statistically significant differences between depression (F (12, 930) = 1.48, p = 0.13,  $\eta^2 = 0.022$ ) anxiety (F (12, 930) = 1.30, p = 0.21,  $\eta^2 = 0.019$ ), and suicidal ideation (F (12, 930) = 1.25, p = 0.24,  $\eta^2 = 0.018$ ).

## Research Question 2: Does attachment strength for different age groups or sex categories explain differences in adult mental health outcomes, including anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation?

This research question focused on attachment strength (the number of attachment figures) as a predictor of adult mental health outcomes and age as a potential moderating factor. Attachment strength was measured by two variables, which included the number of attachment figures and the average emotional distance score for the three highest rated attachment figures (centrality). Given the lack of previous literature in this area, no specific hypothesis was generated on whether the strength would predict the outcomes of adult mental health.

The assumption checks were tested. Based on the residual and scatter plots, the assumptions of normality, linearity and homoscedasticity were all satisfied. In addition, a three-model hierarchical multiple regression was run to determine if attachment strength was a possible predictor of anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation. Age, sex, and romantic relationship status were entered in the first block as control variables. The number of attachment figures and emotional distance (the centrality of top three figures) as attachment strength were added in the second block, and interaction terms were created in the third block.

### Attachment Strength as a Predictor of Anxiety

According to the results of the analysis (see Table 19), the addition of the number of attachment figures and emotional distance (centrality) to the prediction of anxiety (model 2) explained a statistically significant amount of variance,  $R^2 = 0.078$ , F(2, 924) = 4.387, p = 0.013; adjusted  $R^2 = 0.073$ , but accounted for a very small variance ( $\Delta R^2 = 0.009, 0.9\%$ ).

Nonetheless, based on the coefficients' summary of the model 2, the variable of number of attachment figures was not a statistically significant predictor of anxiety (B = -0.044, SE = 0.025,  $\beta = -0.072$ , p = 0.082). Emotional distance (centrality) was not statistically significant to the prediction of anxiety either (B = 0.001, SE = 0.001,  $\beta = 0.031$ , p = 0.451).

The results of interaction terms in the model 3 showed a statistically significant amount of variance in anxiety as well,  $R^2 = 0.251$ , F(3, 921) = 71.012, p < .001; adjusted  $R^2 = 0.245$ , and accounted for a moderate variance ( $\Delta R^2 = 0.173, 17.3\%$ ). The interaction between attachment quality (ECR) and the number of attachment figures (B = -0.102,  $\beta = -0.439$ , p < .001) was statistically significant to the prediction of anxiety, which demonstrated a negative interaction effect (more significant for less ECR score-secure attachment). Another interaction term of romantic relationship status and the number of attachment figures (B = 0.032,  $\beta = 0.129$ , p = (0.029) was also statistically significant to the prediction of anxiety, which indicated a positive interaction effect (more significant for the people who were married). However, the interaction between sex and the number of attachment figures (B = -0.010,  $\beta = -0.026$ , p = 0.785) was not statistically significant. In addition, the control variables in the model 1 indicated a statistically significant amount of variance in anxiety,  $R^2 = 0.069$ , F(3, 926) = 22.033, p < .001; adjusted  $R^2$ = 0.066, and accounted for 6.9 percent of the variance ( $\Delta R^2 = 0.069$ ). According to the coefficients' summary of the model 1, sex had a statistically significant positive relationship with anxiety (B = 0.331,  $\beta = 0.221$ , p < .001), while age had a statistically significant negative relationship (B = -0.007,  $\beta = -0.154$ , p < .001).

### Attachment Strength as a Predictor of Depression

Similarly (see Table 20), the model 2 demonstrated a statistically significant amount of variance in depression after the number of attachment figures and emotional distance (centrality)

were added,  $R^2 = 0.073$ , F(2, 924) = 8.636, p < .001; adjusted  $R^2 = 0.068$ , but accounted for a very small variance ( $\Delta R^2 = 0.017, 1.7\%$ ). According to the coefficients' summary of the model 2, the variable of number of attachment figures was a statistically significant predictor of depression (B = -0.049, SE = 0.021,  $\beta = -0.095$ , p = 0.022). However, emotional distance (centrality) had no statistically significant effect on depression (B = 0.001, SE = 0.001,  $\beta = 0.050$ , p = 0.223).

The interaction terms for depression in the model 3 led to a statistically significant increase in  $R^2$  of 0.201, F (3, 921) = 84.773, p < .001; adjusted  $R^2$  = 0.267, and accounted for a moderate variance ( $\Delta R^2$  = 0.201, 20.1%). The interaction between attachment quality (ECR) and the number of attachment figures (B = -0.091,  $\beta$  = -0.473, p < .001) was statistically significant to the prediction of depression, which displayed a negative interaction effect. Another interaction term of romantic relationship status and the number of attachment figures (B = 0.024,  $\beta$  = 0.119, p = 0.042) was also statistically significant to the prediction of depression and had a positive interaction effect. Nevertheless, the interaction between sex and the number of attachment figures (B = -0.002,  $\beta$  = -0.008, p = 0.935) was not statistically significant. Furthermore, the control variables in the model 1 had a statistically significant amount of variance in depression,  $R^2$  = 0.056, F (3, 926) = 18.194, p < .001; adjusted  $R^2$  = 0.053, and accounted for 5.6 percent of the variance in depression ( $\Delta R^2$  = 0.056). Based on coefficients' summary of the model 1, all the demographic characteristics had the same results as the prediction of anxiety.

### Attachment Strength as a Predictor of Suicidal Ideation

Finally (see Table 21), the model 2 also indicated a statistically significant amount of variance in suicidal ideation after the two variables of attachment strength were entered,  $R^2 = 0.038$ , F(2, 924) = 4.232, p = 0.015; adjusted  $R^2 = 0.033$ , but accounted for a very small

variance ( $\Delta R^2 = 0.009, 0.9\%$ ). Based on the coefficients' summary of the model 2, the variable of number of attachment figures was also a positive and statistically significant predictor of suicidal ideation (B = -0.068, SE = 0.030,  $\beta = -0.095$ , p = 0.024). Nevertheless, emotional distance (centrality) was not a statistically significant predictor of suicidal ideation (B = 0.000, SE = 0.001,  $\beta = -0.001$ , p = 0.987).

The same result displayed that the interaction terms for suicidal ideation in the model 3 was statistically significant with a moderate variance,  $R^2 = 0.151$ , F(3, 921) = 40.769, p < .001; adjusted  $R^2 = 0.143$ ;  $\Delta R^2 = 0.113$ . The interaction between attachment quality (ECR) and the number of attachment figures (B = -0.094,  $\beta = -0.352$ , p < .001) was statistically significant to the prediction of suicidal ideation (a negative interaction effect), but the interaction term of romantic relationship status and the number of attachment figures (B = 0.029,  $\beta = 0.101$ , p = 0.108) was not statistically significant to the prediction of suicidal ideation. Nevertheless, the interaction between sex and the number of attachment figures (B = 0.094,  $\beta = 0.217$ , p = 0.035) was statistically significant with a positive effect (more significant for male). Additionally, the control variables in the model 1 explained a statistically significant amount of variance in suicidal ideation as well,  $R^2 = 0.029$ , F(3, 926) = 9.235, p < .001; adjusted  $R^2 = 0.026$ , and accounted for 2.9 percent of the variance in suicidal ideation ( $\Delta R^2 = 0.029$ ).

In summary, the number of attachment figures was a positive statistically significant predictor of depression and suicidal ideation, but not statistically significant predictor of anxiety. Having more attachment figures predicted less depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation, but there was no significant difference between the number of attachment figures and anxiety. According to the interaction terms, the results indicated that insecurity predicted poor mental health, but it was especially predictive of depression and suicidal ideation when individuals had more attachment figures. More attachment figures for those with high insecurity (high ECR score) had a negative effect on mental health, and more attachment figures with low insecurity (low ECR score) had a positive relationship to mental health. Additionally, more attachment figures for those who were married had a positive effect on mental health compared to those who were single.

# Research Question 3: Does network morphology (monotropic, joint principal, diversified, or distributed network structure pattern) for different age groups or sex categories explain differences in the outcomes of adult mental health, including anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation?

This research question was to investigate the associations between the shapes of attachment network structures (morphology) and adult mental health outcomes. A single Multivariate Analysis of Covariance (MANCOVA) procedure was run to examine the connections between the network structures (monotropic, joint principal, diversified, and distributed) and anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation. Furthermore, attachment quality (ECR) was used as a covariate. Age, sex, and romantic relationship status were employed as factors to determine the moderating effects between the morphology and the results of adult mental health.

Preliminary assumption checks showed that data was normally distributed based on Shapiro-Wilk test (p < .001). There were no multivariate outliers, as examined by box plot outliers. According to Box's M test of equality of covariance matrices, there was not equal variance-covariance matrices (p < .001). Therefore, Pillai's trace criterion in the multivariate test was applied because the assumption of MANCOVA was violated. Additionally, according to the Levene's test of equality of error variances, depression (F(116, 813) = 1.25, p = 0.05), anxiety (F(116, 813) = 1.64, p < .001), and suicidal ideation (F(116, 813) = 1.89, p < .001) were statistically significant, which violated the assumption of homogeneity of the variance.

First, I run a MANCOVA and controlled for emotional distance (centrality of top three figures) as a covariate. I controlled for emotional distance of centrality since it would confound the results for morphology as a predictor of mental health outcomes. Only morphology was used as a factor to investigate the connections between morphology (monotropic, joint principal, diversified, and distributed) and anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation. The results were found that morphology (F (9, 2775) = 2.454, p = 0.009, Pillai's V = 0.024,  $\eta^2 = 0.008$ ) on the combined mental health outcomes was statistically significant. Moreover, the multivariate test (see Table 16) using the morphology patterns (fifteen pixels distance) suggested a statistically significant difference between different network structures and depression (F (3, 930) = 4.869, p = 0.002,  $\eta^2$  = 0.016), anxiety (F (3, 930) = 4.576, p = 0.003,  $\eta^2$  = 0.015), and suicidal ideation (F (3, 930) = 3.797, p = 0.010,  $\eta^2 = 0.012$ ). Additionally, Bonferroni multiple comparisons of morphology (see Table 17) demonstrated that a distributed network structure was associated with more positive mental health outcomes than a diversified network structure (the mean difference was negative). In other words, less hierarchy was connected with better mental health results. Thus, having preferred attachment figures in the nonhierarchical network structure, compared to the hierarchical networks, was generally associated with better mental health, and the associations were statistically significant.

However, I also conducted another MANCOVA with other control factors (i.e., age, sex, and romantic relationship status), the results showed that morphology (F (9, 2436) = 0.86, p = 0.558, Pillai's V = 0.01,  $\eta^2 = 0.003$ ), on the combine mental health outcomes was not statistically significant. Notwithstanding, the effect of attachment quality (ECR) on the combined mental health results was statistically significant, F (3, 810) = 162.76, p < .001, Pillai's V = 0.38,  $\eta^2 = 0.376$ . Sex also had a statistically significant effect on the combined mental health mental health,
F (3, 810) = 2.88, p = 0.04, Pillai's V = 0.01,  $\eta^2$  = 0.011. However, age (F (9, 2436) = 1.14, p = 0.329, Pillai's V = 0.01,  $\eta^2$  = 0.004) and romantic relationship status (F (9, 2436) = 1.85, p = 0.055, Pillai's V = 0.02,  $\eta^2$  = 0.007) on the combine dependent variables were not statistically significant. Furthermore, none of the interaction terms (i.e., morphology x age, morphology x sex, and morphology x romantic relationship status) had statistically significant effects. Moreover, the multivariate test (see Table 18) using the morphology patterns (fifteen pixels distance) indicated a nonsignificant difference between different network structures and depression (F (3, 930) = 0.14, p = 0.938,  $\eta^2$  = 0.001), anxiety (F (3, 930) = 0.23, p = 0.875,  $\eta^2$  = 0.001), or suicidal ideation (F (3, 930) = 1.68, p = 0.171,  $\eta^2$  = 0.006). The network structures with different age groups in a two-way interaction had a statistically significant difference on depression (F (9, 930) = 1.98, p = 0.038,  $\eta^2$  = 0.022), but not on anxiety (F (9, 930) = 0.78, p = 0.633,  $\eta^2$  = 0.009), and suicidal ideation (F (9, 930) = 0.98, p = 0.455,  $\eta^2$  = 0.011).

# Research Question 4: Does physical distance (proximity) for different age groups or sex categories explain differences in adult mental health symptoms, specifically in anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation?

This research question examined physical distance as a predictor of adult mental health outcomes. Given the lack of previous research in this metric, no specific hypothesis was created on whether the centrality of physical distance would predict the outcomes of adult mental health. The assumption checks were tested. According to the residual and scatter plots, the assumptions of normality, linearity and homoscedasticity were all satisfied. Furthermore, a four-model hierarchical multiple regression was conducted to determine if the average physical distance between the participant and the top three attachment figures was a possible predictor of anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation. Age, sex, and romantic relationship status were entered in the first block as control variables. Physical distance and attachment quality (ECR) were added in the second block. The interaction terms based on demographic characteristics and attachment quality were created in the third and fourth block respectively.

## Physical Distance as a Predictor of Anxiety

Based on the results of the analysis (see Table 22), the addition of attachment quality (ECR) in the model 2 led to a statistically significant increase in  $R^2$  of 0.27, F (2, 924) = 189.191, p < .001; adjusted  $R^2 = 0.336$ , and accounted for a moderate proportion of variance in anxiety ( $\Delta R^2 = 0.27, 27\%$ ). Nevertheless, based on the coefficients' summary of the model 2, the variable of physical distance was not a statistically significant predictor of anxiety (B = -0.001, SE = 0.002,  $\beta = -0.047$ , p = 0.681). Attachment quality was a positive and statistically significant predictor of anxiety (B = 0.310, SE = 0.027,  $\beta = 0.555$  p < .001).

In addition, the control variables in the model 1 was statistically significant,  $R^2 = 0.069$ , F(3, 926) = 23.033, p < .001; adjusted  $R^2 = 0.066$ , and accounted for a small proportion of variance in anxiety ( $\Delta R^2 = 0.069$ , 6.9%). However, romantic relationship status in the model 1 was not statistically significant (B = 0.028, SE = 0.019, p = 0.137). According to the model 3 and 4, none of results were statistically significant. The interaction terms in the models 3 and 4 were not statistically significant to the prediction of anxiety either.

# Physical Distance as a Predictor of Depression

In the same way (see Table 23), when attachment quality (ECR) was entered in the model 2, it also led to a statistically significant increase in  $R^2$  of 0.327, F(2, 924) = 244.677, p < .001; adjusted  $R^2 = 0.379$ , and accounted for a moderate proportion of variance in depression ( $\Delta R^2 = 0.327, 32.7\%$ ). However, physical distance to the prediction of depression was not statistically significant either. In terms of the coefficients' summary of the model 2, the variable of physical distance was not a statistically significant predictor of depression (B = -0.001, SE = 0.002,  $\beta$ 

= .048, p = 0.663). However, attachment quality was also a positive and statistically significant predictor of depression (B = 0.256, SE = 0.022,  $\beta = 0.551$  p < .001).

Furthermore, the control variables in the model 1 explained a statistically significant amount of variance in depression,  $R^2 = 0.056$ , F(3, 926) = 18.194, p < .001; adjusted  $R^2 = 0.053$ , and accounted for 5.6 percent variance in depression ( $\Delta R^2 = 0.056$ ). Similarly, the interaction terms for depression in the model 3 and 4 were not statistically significant with very small variances.

# Physical Distance as a Predictor of Suicidal Ideation

Lastly (see Table 24), the model 2 indicated a statistically significant amount of variance in suicidal ideation as well after attachment quality (ECR) was added,  $R^2 = 0.202$ , F(2, 924) =100.047, p < .001; adjusted  $R^2 = 0.198$ , and accounted for 17.3 percent variance ( $\Delta R^2 = 0.173$ ). Nonetheless, according to the coefficients' summary of the model 2, the variable of physical distance was not a statistically significant predictor of suicidal ideation (B = -0.001, SE = 0.001,  $\beta = -0.037$ , p = 0.215). The same result indicated that attachment quality was a positive and statistically significant predictor of suicidal ideation as well (B = 0.276, SE = 0.020,  $\beta = 0.427$ , p < .001).

Additionally, the control variables in the model 1 also showed a statistically significant amount of variance in suicidal ideation,  $R^2 = 0.029$ , F(3, 926) = 9.235, p < .001; adjusted  $R^2 = 0.026$ , and accounted for a very small proportion of variance in suicidal ideation ( $\Delta R^2 = 0.029$ , 2.9%). Based on the model 3 and 4, the same results suggested that physical distance did not interact with age, gender, romantic status, or attachment quality based on the interaction terms.

In conclusion, the physical distance of centrality was a nonsignificant predictor (had no significant effect on all three mental health outcomes) of adult mental health outcomes with no

significant differences among anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation since we had a large sample size. Surprisingly, close physical distance did not appear to be predictive of any mental health outcomes. However, attachment quality had a strong moderating effect on the relationship between physical distance and adult mental health outcomes.

#### **Chapter Five: Conclusions, Discussions, and Implications**

# Overview

This chapter provides a summary of the hypotheses and the research questions, as well as a discussion of the current study, implications, and future directions for the research in the ecology of close relationships through the lens of human psychology.

# Attachment Network Structures with Adult Mental Health

I examined adult attachment networks from an attachment perspective whether network structures explained connections to mental health. I also investigated whether attachment quality and different age groups had moderating effects on the relationship between the network structures and mental health. The previous literature on close relationships and mental health underscores the importance of dyadic interactions in different types of relationships to mental health, such as parents, best friends, and romantic partners (Daley & Hammen, 2002; Pietromonaco et al., 2013). Moreover, based on attachment theory, the findings also emphasize the significance of children and adolescents forming and maintaining close relationships with their caregivers (e.g., parents) and peers. While attachment relationships and close relationship networks are well-studied in childhood and adolescence, less is known about the importance of these relationships and related networks beyond adolescence and through adulthood. This is considered as a crucial factor in normal development influencing multiple areas of an individual's adult life (Bowlby, 1980; Freeman & Brown, 2001; Mikulciner & Shaver, 2012). The results from the current study indicate adult attachment network structures may explain some associations with mental health outcomes.

## **Composition of the Network**

The first hypothesis in this study addresses whether young adults in early adulthood (24-35 years of age) identify parents as their primary attachment figures more often than older adults. Similar findings provide some evidence to support the premise that people's attachment networks in early adulthood often include parents (Fraley & Davis, 1997; Trinke & Bartholomew, 1997). Based on this study, romantic partners and parents were mostly selected as primary attachment in early adulthood and early middle age. Nevertheless, the number of individuals who chose others over parents as their primary attachment were gradually increased but not significantly until late adulthood. Overall, the percentage of adults who considered their parents as the primary attachment figure had no significant differences in early adulthood, early middle age, and late middle age. Thus, the results did not fully support the hypothesis, and this hypothesized change did not take place until late adulthood. The importance of parents as primary figures through middle age was underestimated because parents remained primary attachment figures much longer than expected among non-romantically involved adults through middle age.

For hypothesis two, I examined whether adults greater than 65 years of age would identify children as attachment figures more than adults younger than 65. Related studies provide some basis to support this hypothesis that primary attachment figures may change during middle and late adulthood. Doherty and Feeney's (2004) study has demonstrated primary attachment to romantic partners and peers are most common to individuals' attachment networks in early adulthood, while in middle to late adulthood, children gradually enter the picture. Children become more essential and meaningful as parent-child relationships are developed, but spouses are still the predominant choice in attachment networks (Antonucci et al., 2004). In the current

study, individuals who considered others as the primary attachment figure had bumped up from late middle age to late adulthood. Individuals who chose "others" tended to identify their children as their primary attachment figure; this suggested that children may become increasingly important with age. In summary, people that considered children as their attachment figure in late adulthood had the largest proportion (n = 12, 63.2%). Moreover, it is worth noting that children represented 63% in the category of "others", but they did not represent 63% of primary figures for this age group. Therefore, the results of analysis supported this hypothesis.

## **Composition of the Network and Mental Health**

The research questions of this study are based on the four metrics of network structures as measured by the WHMT assessment. In the first question, I investigated the association between the composition of an attachment network and the results of adult mental health. There has been a significant amount of research in the importance of attachment figures to adolescent mental health. If adolescents are not able to sustain close relationships and do not have a specific primary attachment figure (e.g., mothers or fathers), there will be mental health problems of anxiety, depression, or suicidal ideation (Bowlby, 1969, 1982; Freeman & Simons, 2018; Steinberg, 2001). In this study, adults have primary attachment figures in their attachment networks. Primary attachment to a romantic partner was most common (n = 449, 48.3%), followed by parents (n = 199, 21.4%), best friends, (n = 127, 13.7%), and nonparents (n = 93, 10%). Nevertheless, there was no statistically significant difference between the choice of romantic partners and parents as primary attachment figures in terms of mental health outcomes. Moreover, different age groups and choice of primary attachment figure in terms of mental health outcomes.

In summary, for this dimension of attachment network structures, we addressed how adults choose their primary attachment figures in terms of the various age groups. Romantic partners are identified as the primary attachment figure for the majority of individuals in any of the age groups. This primacy does not change significantly from young adulthood through late adulthood. Parents are considered as the second top primary attachment figures from early adulthood to late middle age. Surprisingly, the proportion of adults who identified their mother as the primary attachment figure have no significant differences in the age groups of early adulthood, early middle age, and late middle age. Parents have not faded away from attachment networks as quickly as we expected. Most adults in early middle age maintain profound relationships with their parents, although parents may be less involved in the daily lives of their grown-up children. Even in the late middle age, people still maintain close bonds with parents, especially their mother as the primary attachment figure. Notwithstanding, mothers eventually lose status in late adulthood, however, fathers retain the same low percentage throughout adulthood. In addition, best friends do not seem to be as important as we thought until in late middle age. Individuals who identified others as the primary attachment figure had the highest percentage in the late adulthood (n = 19, 30.6%) compared with those who did in the age group of early adulthood (n = 41, 14.2%) and early middle age group (n = 40, 13.2%). Lastly, according to the results of attachment figures related to mental health outcomes, composition of adult attachment networks is not important to mental health outcomes compared to adolescent attachment networks.

## Strength of the Network and Mental Health

For question two, I explored whether the network strength as the second metric of network structures could explain differences in mental health outcomes. Attachment strength has

not been widely investigated; thus, I conducted meaningful ways to measure the strength of attachment networks. The strength of network structure was determined by the number of attachment figures or the average emotional distance score for the three highest rated attachment figures (centrality). I found that the number of attachment figures was a positive statistically significant predictor of depression and suicidal ideation but not statistically significant to the prediction of anxiety. Additionally, emotional distance (centrality) as measured by strength also mattered at the bivariate level, but once I controlled for sex, age, and the ECR, strength no longer mattered.

Overall, more attachment figures signified stronger attachment strength. Having more attachment figures predicted less depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation, but there was no significant difference between the number of attachment figures and anxiety. The results provided support to the related studies that the lack of network strength between individuals and their attachment figures might cause mental health problems such as emotional distress and anxiety (French & Conrad, 2001; Mikulincer & Shaver, 2007).

### Morphology of the Network and Mental Health

The patterns of attachment network structures (morphology) was also investigated as the third metric. The metric has not been extensively explored in previous work. I used different methods to measure this metric and explore whether it could also explain differences in the results of mental health and be a possible predictor. I first controlled for emotional distance (centrality) and entered four types of morphology as a single factor. The results indicated a statistically significant difference between different network morphology types and all three mental health outcomes, including depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation. Surprisingly, the nonhierarchical network, compared to the hierarchical networks, was associated with better

mental health outcomes. Based on attachment theory, it theorizes that having a clear target (attachment figure) for support may be reduced in a distributed network. Equal and diverse support from multiple attachment figures may have positive effects on mental health results. However, when age, sex, and romantic relationship status were added as control factors, the effect of morphology types was nonsignificant. Nevertheless, a morphology by age groups interaction had a statistically significant and positive effect on depression but not on anxiety or suicidal ideation. Individuals in the groups of late middle age and late adulthood with a distributed network structure have less depression.

Related mental health literature have also provided some implications that why nonhierarchical networks are more adaptive and associated with positive mental health. From the perspectives of flexibility and adaptability, having multiple support figures of equal status may promote resilience and the ability to cope with some adversities, which have positive effects on mental health (Reblin & Uchino, 2008). Moreover, more emotional and social support may reduce inequality and increase diversity. This diversity enriches the network's collective power, which may contribute to better mental health outcomes (Reblin & Uchino, 2008).

## Physical Proximity (Distance) of the Network and Mental Health

For physical proximity as the fourth dimension of the network structures, this dimension has not thoroughly investigated by previous literature either. In the present study, physical proximity was examined by the average pixel distance of top three figures or all five figures to the participant (centrality). Based on the results, the physical distance of centrality had no significant effect on adult mental health outcomes and no significant differences among anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation. The amount of physical distance from close relationships did not appear to be predictive of mental health. The findings of physical distance to mental health

outcomes suggest that close geographic location does not appear to be a good predictor of people's mental health well-being. Unexpectedly, close physical distance even predicts a more negative effect on depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation. This is a little bit strange in that one would think being further away from one's closest attachment figures would cause some anxiety or depression. But on the whole, the result in this study does not appear to be the case. As discussed earlier, one of the inclusionary criteria in this study included the participants who were currently living in the same residence in which they have lived during most of the COVID-19 pandemic. Thus, one of the possible reasons is that the time during the pandemic may have helped individuals adapt to close others living far away. The findings indicate that technology may be able to bridge the physical divide, such that people can still maintain close relationships with their attachment figures using video chat and other social media platforms.

Additionally, it is interesting that Ben-Ari's (2012) study has discussed the relationship between distance and closeness as the "paradox" in intimate relationships. Physical proximity is based on the physical environment. If people are closer in a physical environment, they are more likely to build close relationships (Kiesler & Cummings, 2002; Ben-Ari, 2012). Nevertheless, those of people in a secure attachment may feel even more affection when they are apart from their close figures in the short period of time, especially in romantic relationships (Jiang & Hancock, 2013; Ellis & Ledbetter, 2015; Pellegrini, 1977). One of the reasons may be that when two people are physically separated, they may experience a sense of longing and yearning for each other's company. This longing can intensify emotions and create a deeper appreciation for the relationship.

In conclusion, the metrics of attachment network structure as measured by the WHMT were predictive of adult mental health in some extent. Specifically, both strength and

morphology were predictive at the bivariate level and even in the ANOVAs; but once the ECR was accounted for, the structure variables lost significance. Nonetheless, attachment quality (ECR) in the main effects had a strong moderating effect on the relationship between attachment network structures and adult mental health outcomes.

## Limitations

The limitations of this study are due to a restricted sample (Amazon Mechanical Turk workers), self-reported instruments, and temporal restrictions due to cross-sectional data.

A restricted sample is the first limitation. Respondents in the present study were recruited from a convenience sample of MTurk workers. Although a large sample size was included in this study, the sample size had a small population in terms of diversity. There are a great number of Mechanical Turk workers who participate in academic research every year, and many of the active workers even complete over hundreds of assignments or studies every month (Chandler et al., 2014). The consequence of this situation is that MTurk workers are continuously recycled across different academic studies (Chandler et al., 2014; Goodman et al., 2013). Most of the MTurk participants have had extensive experience in answering a variety of surveys or questionnaires, which may affect the validity of the study and data quality (Chandler et al., 2014; Peer et al., 2014). Furthermore, MTurk workers may not represent the general US population or may be limited to certain demographic groups. Because of the limited diversity of the sample, the results may not be generalizable to the broader population, which may have an effect on the external validity of the study (Peer et al., 2014). Selective recruitment is necessary, and a more diverse sample that is not limited to MTurk workers needs to be considered.

The biases of self-reported instruments are considered as the second limitation of this study. The scores from the measures applied in this study were based upon self-report, which is

limited to what participants are able and willing to report. This means that some information may be missed, such as subconscious attitudes or behaviors that the respondent may not be aware of. For instance, based on mental health outcomes, self-reported answers sometimes may be exaggerated. Respondents may not accurately reflect how they feel based on anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation, and they may subjectively feel bad when they answer the survey questions. Moreover, participants may not want to reveal their private details either. In addition, the answers to emotional questions may be hard to fully capture in the survey because of the complex construct.

The third limitation to this study is about cross-sectional data. We only filled up the related gap based on the phase one dataset. Although the phase two dataset was also collected, the current study did not employ a longitudinal design. Based on cross-sectional data, it is difficult to address questions about stability, dynamics, and change of attachment network structures measured by the WHMT diagram. In a longitudinal study, we can better understand why the network structures are stable or not, and if not, why and how they change over time. Moreover, very little is understood on how the stability and change of attachment network structures are associated with mental health outcomes. In the future study, a longitudinal design of attachment networks structures and mental health outcomes is necessary.

# **Future Directions and Implications**

As discussed above, we need to consider how to examine the relative stability of adults' preferences for attachment figures or why and how these figures change within a short period of time. Furthermore, we also need to address how adults restructure and reorganize their hierarchical or nonhierarchical network structures over time. To better understand and tackle

these questions, a longitudinal study of how attachment network structures are associated with mental health and well-being is needed, which should be a new focus in the future investigations.

In addition, the mental health problems of this study are based on depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation. Although related background of these problems was provided in the chapter one, we should not be limited to these outcomes of mental health. Other issues related to mental health may need to be explored, such as emotional distress, social isolation, and loneliness.

Lastly, we measured attachment network structures by the WHMT assessment and examined the four metrics of network structures separately. Notwithstanding, it is unclear whether we can used mixed methods to investigate two metrics simultaneously (e.g., emotional and physical distance). For instance, we can ask questions to determine whether the attachment figures that participants choose are both emotionally and physically close to them, or only emotionally close to them. In this case, we can examine whether those who have strong attachment strength with close physical distance have different mental health outcomes compared to those who only have strong attachment strength. Furthermore, additional study is required to provide evidence that the WHMT is an effective measurement to assess whether adults are experiencing mental health problems by their attachment network structures.

# Conclusion

The results of the present study shed new light on how adult attachment network structures are predictive of mental health outcomes, which is a good breakthrough. The findings provide some confirmation that choosing different primary attachment figures are not significant to mental health outcomes in adult attachment networks. Moreover, more than one attachment figure is connected with positive mental health outcomes. However, the nonhierarchical network

structure predicted even better mental health outcomes. Additionally, the amount of physical distance from close relationships does not appear to be a good predictor of mental health.

Overall, the findings reveal a more comprehensive network perspective of close relationships than what previous literature has uncovered. Up until now, the research on the impact of close relationships on mental health has limited to dyadic interactions in different types of relationships. Moreover, most of the studies have only focused on network composition, or who is the primary attachment figure. The results of this study provide a more complete network perspective by examining the ecology of close relationships from the angle of attachment and human psychology. This gives researchers a more comprehensive understanding of how close relationship networks are associated with mental health outcomes.

#### References

- Ainsworth, M. D. S. (1967). *Infancy in Uganda: Infant care and the growth of love*. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Ainsworth, M. D. S. (1985). Patterns of infant –mother attachments: Antecedents and effects on development. 61(9), 771-7791.
- Ainsworth, M. D. S. (1989). Attachments beyond infancy. *American Psychologist, 44*(4), 709-716.
- Ainsworth, M. D. S. (1991). Attachment and additional affectional bonds across the life cycle. In
  C. M. Parkes, J. Stevenson-Hinde, & P. Morris (Eds.), *Attachment across the life cycle*(pp. 33-51). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Allen, J. P. (2008). *The attachment system in adolescence*. In J. Cassidy & P. Shaver (Eds.), Handbook of attachment: *Theory research and clinical applications*, (2<sup>nd</sup> ed) (pp. 419435). London: Guilford Press.
- Allen, J. P. & Land, D. (1999). Attachment in adolescence. In J. Cassidy & P. R. Shaver (Eds.), Handbook of Attachment Theory and Research, theory, & clinical applications, (pp. 319-335). New York: Guilford Press.
- Altman, I., & Taylor, D. A. (1973). Social penetration: The development of interpersonal relationships. Holt, Rinehart & Winston.

Antonucci, T. C. (1986). Hierarchical mapping technique. *Generations*, 10, 10-12.

Antonucci, T. C., Akiyama, H., & Takahashi, K. (2004). Attachment and close relationships across the life span. *Attachment & Human Development*, 6(4), 353–370. https://doi.org/10.1080/1461673042000303136

- Bartholomew, K., & Horowitz, L. N. (1991). Attachment styles among young adults: A test of a four-category model. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 61(2), 226. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.61.2.226
- Bei, E., Mashevich, K., Rotem-Mindali, O., Galin-Soibelman, S., Kalter-Leibovici, O., Schifter, T., & Vilchinsky, N. (2022). Extremely Distant and Incredibly Close: Physical Proximity, Emotional Attachment and Caregiver Burden. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(14), 8722. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19148722
- Ben-Ari, A. (2012). Rethinking closeness and distance in intimate relationships: Are they really two opposites? *Journal of Family Issues*, *33*(3), 391-412.
- Berkman, L. F. & Glass, Brissette, I. & Seeman, T. E. (2000). From social integration to health: Durkheim in the new millennium." *Social Science & Medicine*, *51*: 843-57.
- Berry, J. W., & Worthington, E. L. (2001). Forgivingness, relationship quality, stress while imagining relationship events, and physical and mental health. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 48(4), 447-455. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.48.4.447
- Bosmans, G., Braet, C., & Van Vlierberghe, L. (2010). Attachment and symptoms of psychopathology: early maladaptive schemas as a cognitive link? *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 17(5), 374-385. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.667
- Bowlby, J. (1969). Attachment and loss. Vol. 1: Attachment. New York: Basic Books.
- Bowlby, J. (1973). Attachment and loss: Vol. II. Separation. New York: Basic Books
- Bowlby, J. (1980). Loss: Sadness & depression. Attachment and loss (vol.3); (International Psycho-analytical library no. 109). London: Hogarth Press.
- Bowlby, J. (1982). Attachment and loss: Vol. 1(2nd ed.). New York: Basic Books.
- Bowlby, J. (1988). A secure base: parent-child attachment and healthy human. New York: Basic Books.

- Brennan, K. A., & Morns, K. A. (1997). Attachment Styles, Self-Esteem, and Patterns of Seeking Feedback from Romantic Partners. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 23*(1), 23-31. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167297231003
- Bretherton, I. (1991). Pouring new wine into old bottles: The social self as internal working model. In M. R. Gunnar & I. A. Sroufe (Eds.), *Self-processes and development. The Minnesota Symposium on Child Development (Vol. 23, pp, 1-41). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.*
- Bretherton, I. (1992). The origins of attachment theory: John Bowlby and Mary Ainsworth. Developmental Psychology, 28(5), 759-775. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.28.5.759
- Bretherton, I., & Munholland, K. A. (2008). Internal working models in attachment relationships: A construct revised. In J. Cassidy, & P. R. Shaver (Eds.), Handbook of Attachment: Theory, research, and clinical applications (pp. 89-111). New York: The Guilford Press.
- Bretherton, I., & Munholland, K. A. (2008). Internal working models in attachment relationships: Elaborating a central construct in attachment theory. (pp. 102-127). New York: The Guilford Press.
- Brooks, K. P., & Dunkel Schetter, C. (2011). Social negativity and health: Conceptual and measurement issues. Social and Personality Psychology Compass, 5(11), 904-918. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-9004.2011.00395.x
- Bryant, R. A. (2016). Social attachments and traumatic stress. *European Journal* of *Psychotraumatology*. 7, 1-7.
- Cacioppo, J. T., & Patrick, W. (2008). *Loneliness: Human nature and the need for social connection*. WW Norton & Company.

- Cantazaro, A., & Wei, M. (2010). Adult Attachment, Dependence, Self-Criticism, and Depressive Symptoms: A Test of a Mediational Model. *Journal of Personality*, *78*(4), 1135-1162 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2010.00645.x
- Carli, L. L., Anzelmo, E., Pozzi, S., Feeney, J. A., Gallucci, M., Santona, A., & Tagini, A. (2019). Attachment Networks in Committed Couples. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01105
- Carver, P. R., Yunger, J. L., & Perry, D. G. (2003). Gender identity and adjustment in middle childhood. *Sex Roles*, *49*, 95-109.
- Cassidy, J. (1994). EMOTION REGULATION: INFLUENCES OF ATTACHMENT RELATIONSHIPS. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development,* 59(2-3), 228-249. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5834.1994.tb01287.x
- Cassidy, J. (1999). The nature of the child's ties. In Cassidy, J. and Shaver, P. R. (ed.), *Handbook* of Attachment: Theory, Research, and Clinical Applications. Guilford, New York, 3-20.
- Cassidy, J. & Shaver, P. R. (2008). *Handbook of attachment: Theory, research, and clinical applications*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Chan, A. W., Yu, D. S., & Choi, K. (2017). Effects of tai chi qigong on psychosocial well-being among hidden elderly, using elderly neighborhood volunteer approach: a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Clinical Interventions in Aging, Volume 12*, 85-96. https://doi.org/10.2147/cia.s124604
- Chandler, J., Mueller, P., & Paolacci, G. (2014). Nonnaïveté among Amazon Mechanical Turk workers: Consequences and solutions for behavioral researchers. *Behavior research methods*, 46, 112-130.

- Chopik, W. J. (2017). Associations among relational values, support, health, and well-being across the adult lifespan. *Personal Relationships*, 24(2), 408-422. https://doi.org/10.1111/pere.12187
- Christakis, N. A., & Fowler, J. H. (2007). The spread of obesity in a large social network over 32 years. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *375(4)*, 370-379.

Chu, B., Marwaha, K., Sanvictores, T., & Ayers, D. (2021). Physiology, Stress Reaction. In StatPearls [Internet]. StatPearls Publishing. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK541120/

- Cicirelli, V. G. (2010). Attachment relationships in old age. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 27(2), 191-199. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407509360984
- Cohen, W. (2004). Social relationships and health. *American Psychologist, 59*, 676-684. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.59.8.676
- Coker, A. L., Davis, K. E., Arias, I., Desai, S., Sanderson, M., Brandt, H. M., & Smith, P. H. (2002). Physical and mental health effects of intimate partner violence for men and women. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 23(4), 260-268. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0749-3797(02)00514-7
- Cole, D. A., Tram, J. M., Martin, J. M., Hoffman, K. B., Ruiz, M. D., Jacquez, F. M., & Maschman, T. L. (2002). Individual differences in the emergence of depressive symptoms in children and adolescents: A longitudinal investigation of parent and child reports. Journal of Abnormal Psychology: A power primer. *Psychological Bulletin, 112,* 155-159.
- Connidis, I. A., & Campbell, L. D. (1995). Closeness, Confiding, and Contact Among Siblings in Middle and Late Adulthood. *Journal of Family Issues*, 16(6), 722-745. https://doi.org/10.1177/019251395016006003

- Costello, E. J., Erkanli, A., & Angold, A. (2006). Is there an epidemic of child or adolescent depression? *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 47, 1263-1271. https//doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01682.x.
- Courtin, E., & Knapp, M. (2017). Social isolation, loneliness and health in old age: a scoping review. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 25(3), 799-812. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.12311
- Crystal Jiang, L., & Hancock, J. T. (2013). Absence makes the communication grow fonder: Geographic separation, interpersonal media, and intimacy in dating relationships. *Journal* of Communication, 63(3), 556-577.
- Cudjoe, T. K., Boyd, C. M., Wolff, J. L., & Roth, D. (2020). Advance Care Planning: Social Isolation Matters. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 68(4), 841-846. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.16287
- Czeisler, M. É., Lane, R. I., Petrosky, E., Wiley, J. F., Christensen, A., Njai, R., Weaver, M. D., Robbins, R., Facer-Childs, E. R., Barger, L. K., Czeisler, C. A., Howard, M. E., & Rajaratnam, S. M. W. (2020). Mental Health, Substance Use, and Suicidal Ideation During the COVID-19 Pandemic-United States, June 24–30, 2020. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 69*(32), 1049-1057. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6932a1
- Dagan, O., & Sagi-Schwartz, A. (2018). Early Attachment Network with Mother and Father: An Unsettled Issue. *Child Development Perspectives*, 12(2), 115-121. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12272
- Daley, S. E., & Hammen, C. (2002). Depressive symptoms and close relationships during the transition to adulthood: perspectives from dysphoric women, their best friends, and their romantic partners. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 70(1), 129. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006x.70.1.129

- Davies, P. T., & Windle, M. (2000). Middle adolescents' dating pathways and psychosocial adjustment. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 46(1), 90-118.
- De Jong Gierveld, J., & Havens, B. (2004). Cross-national comparisons of social isolation and loneliness: Introduction and overview. *Canadian Journal on Aging*, 23, 109-113. https://doi.org/10.1353/cja.2004.0021
- Ding, Y., Xu, X., Wang, Z., Li, H., & Wang, W. (2014). The relation of infant attachment to attachment and cognitive and behavioural outcomes in early childhood. *Early Human Development*, 90(9), 459-464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2014.06.004
- Doherty, N. A., & Feeney, J. A. (2004). The composition of attachment networks throughout the adult years. *Personal Relationships*, *11(*4), 469-488. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6811.2004.00093.x
- Dunkel Schetter, C. (2017). Moving research on health and close relationships forward-a challenge and an obligation: Introduction to the special issue. *American Psychologist*, 72(6), 511-516. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000158
- Dush, C. M. K., & Amato, P. R. (2005). Consequences of relationship status and quality for subjective well-being. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 22(5), 607-627. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407505056438
- Ein-Dor, T., Doron, G., Solomon, Z., Mikulincer, M., & Shaver, P. R. (2010). Together in pain: Attachment-related dyadic processes and posttraumatic stress disorder. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 57(3), 317-327. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019500
- Elhusseini, S., Rawn, K., El-Sheikh, M., & Keller, P. S. (2023). Attachment and prosocial behavior in middle childhood: The role of emotion regulation. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, *225*, 105534.

- Ellis, N. K., & Ledbetter, A. M. (2015). Why might distance make the heart grow fonder?: A relational turbulence model investigation of the maintenance of long distance and geographically close romantic relationships. *Communication Quarterly*, 63(5), 568-585.
- Elmer, T., Mepham, K., & Stadtfeld, C. (2020). Students under lockdown: Comparisons of students' social networks and mental health before and during the COVID-19 crisis in Switzerland. *PLOS ONE*, 15(7), e0236337. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0236337
- Farooqi, S. R. (2014). The Construct of Relationship Quality. *Journal of Relationships Research*,
  5. https://doi.org/10.1017/jrr.2014.2
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A., & Buchner, A. (2007). G\*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(2), 175-191. https://doi.org/10.3758/bf03193146
- Feeney, B. C., & Collins, N. L. (2015). A New Look at Social Support. Personality and Social Psychology Review, 19(2), 113-147. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868314544222
- Feeney, J. A. (1998). Adult attachment and relationship-centered anxiety: Responses to physical and emotional distancing.
- Fonagy, P., Lorenzini, N., Campbell, C., & Luyten, P. (2014). Why are we interested in attachments? *In The Routledge handbook of attachment: Theory* (pp. 31-48). Routledge.
- Fraley, R. C., & Davis, K. E. (1997). Attachment formation and transfer in young adults' close friendships and romantic relationships. *Personal Relationships*, 4(2), 131-144.
- Fraley, R. C., Garner, J. P., & Shaver, P. R. (2000). Adult attachment and the defensive regulation of attention and memory: examining the role of preemptive and postemptive defensive processes. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 79(5), 816-826. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.79.5.816

- Fraley, R. C., Niedenthal, P. M., Marks, M., Brumbaugh, C., & Vicary, A. (2006). Adult attachment and the perception of emotional expressions: Probing the hyperactivating strategies underlying anxious attachment. *Journal of Personality*, 74, 1163-1190. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2006.00406.x
- Fraley, R. C., Vicary, A. M., Brumbaugh, C. C., & Roisman, G. I. (2011). Patterns of stability in adult attachment: An empirical test of two models of continuity and change. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 101(5), 974-992. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024150
- Fraley, R. C., Waller, N. G., & Brennan, K. (2000). An item response theory analysis of selfreport measures of adult attachment. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78(2), 350. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.78.2.350
- Freeman, H. (2017). The effect of romance and sexual experience on social networks during late adolescence gender matters. *International Journal of Psychology Research*, 11(3-4), 191210.
- Freeman, H., & Almond, T. M. (2010). Mapping young adults' use of fathers for attachment support: Implications on romantic relationship experiences. *Early Child Development and Care*, 180(1), 227-248. DOI: 10.1080/03004430903415080
- Freeman, H., Anis Abdellatif, M., & Gnimpieba, E. Z. (2021). A Qualitative Validation of Two Diagrammatic Measures of Attachment Network Structure. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*. https://doi.org/10.1027/1015-5759/a000681
- Freeman, H., & Brown, B. (2001). Primary attachment to parents and peers during adolescence: Differences by attachment style. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *30*(6), 653-674.
- Freeman, H., & Simons, J. (2018). Attachment network structure as a predictor of romantic attachment formation and insecurity. *Social Development*, 27(1), 201-220. https://doi.org/10.1111/sode.12265

- French, D. C., & Conrad, J. (2001). School dropout as predicted by peer rejection and antisocial behavior. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *11*(3), 225-244.
- Friedlmeier, W., & Granqvist, P. (2006). Attachment transfer among Swedish and German adolescents: A prospective longitudinal study. *Personal Relationships, 13,* 261-279.
- Furman, W. (1999). Friends and lovers: The role of peer relationships in adolescent romantic relationships. In A. W. Collins & B. Laursen (Eds.), Relationships as developmental contexts: The Minnesota Symposia on Child Psychology (Vol. 30, pp. 133-154).
  Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Garrett, J. M., Clitherow, T. J., White, M. P., Wheeler, B. W., & Fleming, L. E. (2019). Coastal proximity and mental health among urban adults in England: The moderating effect of household income. *Health & Place, 59*, 102200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2019.102200
- Gentina, E., Rose, G. M., Vitell, S. J. (2016). Ethics during adolescence: A social networks perspective. *J. Bus Ethics*, *138*, 185-197.
- Gerst-Emerson, K., & Jayawardhana, J. (2015). Loneliness as a Public Health Issue: The Impact of Loneliness on Health Care Utilization Among Older Adults. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105(5), 1013-1019. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2014.302427
- Goh, Y. L. D., & Wilkinson, R. B. (2017). Attachment Strength and Relationship Expectancies in the Prediction of Adolescent Stress and Depression. *The Educational and Developmental Psychologist, 34*(2), 106-123. https://doi.org/10.1017/edp.2017.8
- Goldston, D. B., Daniel, S. S., Erkanli, A., Reboussin, B. A., Mayfield, A., Frazier, P. H., & Treadway, S. L. (2009). Psychiatric diagnoses as contemporaneous risk factors for suicide attempts among adolescents and young adults: Developmental changes. *Journal* of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 77, 281-290.

- Goodman, J. K., Cryder, C. E., & Cheema, A. (2013). Data collection in a flat world: The strengths and weaknesses of Mechanical Turk samples. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 26(3), 213-224.
- Gormley, B., & McNiel, D. E. (2010). Adult Attachment Orientations, Depressive Symptoms, Anger, and Self-Directed Aggression by Psychiatric Patients. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 34(3), 272–281. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-009-9267-5
- Haddadi, P., & Besharat, M. A. (2010). Resilience, vulnerability and mental health. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *5*, 639-642. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.07.157
- Hazan, C., & Hutt, M., Sturgeon, J., & Bricker, T. (1991). The process of relinquishing parents as attachment figures. Paper presented at the biennial meeting of the Society for Research in Child Development, Seattle, WA.
- Hazan, C., & Shaver, P. R. (1987). Romantic love conceptualized as an attachment process. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 52, 511-524.
- Hazan, C., & Shaver, P. R. (1994). Attachment as an organized framework for research on close relationships. *Psychological Inquiry*, 5, 1-22.
- Hazan, C., & Zeifman, D. (1994). Sex, and the psychological tether. In D. Perlman & K.
  Bartholomew (Eds.), *Advances in personal relationships*, Vol. 5 Attachment processes in adulthood (pp. 151-177). London, England: Jessica Kingsley.
- Hefner, J. T., & Eisenberg, D. (2009). Social support and mental health among college students. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 79(4), 491-499. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016918
- Hendrick, C., & Hendrick, S. S. (1994). Attachment Theory and Close Adult Relationships. *Psychological Inquiry*, 5(1), 38-41. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327965pli0501\_6

- Holt-Lunstad, J., Smith, T. W., Baker, M., Harris, T. L., & Stephenson, D. B. (2015). Loneliness and Social Isolation as Risk Factors for Mortality. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 10(2), 227-237. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691614568352
- Holt-Lunstad, J., Smith, T. W., & Layton, J. B. (2010). Social Relationships and Mortality Risk: A Meta-analytic Review. *PLOS Medicine*, 7(7), e1000316. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000316
- Holt-Lunstad, J., & Smith, T. W. (2016). Loneliness and social isolation as risk factors for CVD: implications for evidence-based patient care and scientific inquiry. *Heart, 102*(13), 987-989. https://doi.org/10.1136/heartjnl-2015-309242
- House, J. S. (2001). Social Isolation Kills, But How and Why? *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 63(2), 273-274. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006842-200103000-00011
- Hudson, N. W., Fraley, R. C., Chopik, W. J., & Heffernan, M. E. (2015). Not all attachment relationships develop alike: Normative cross-sectional age trajectories in attachment to romantic partners, best friends, and parents. *Journal of Research in Personality, 59*, 44-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2015.10.001
- Ibarra-Rovillard, M. S., & Kuiper, N. A. (2011). Social support and social negativity findings in depression: Perceived responsiveness to basic psychological needs. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 31(3), 342-352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2011.01.005

Jones, J. D., Fraley, R. C., Ehrlich, K. B., Stern, J. A., Lejuez, C. W., Shaver, P. R., & Cassidy, J. (2017). Stability of Attachment Style in Adolescence: An Empirical Test of Alternative Developmental Processes. *Child Development*, 89(3), 871-880. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12775 Jordan, J. (2010). *The power of connection: Recent developments in relational-cultural theory*. New York: Routledge.

Kawachi, I., & Berkman, L. F. (2001). Social Ties and Mental Health. Journal of Urban Health-Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine, 78(3), 458-467. https://doi.org/10.1093/jurban/78.3.458

Kessler, R. C., Berglund, P. A., Demler, O., Jin, R., Merikangas, K. R., & Walters, E. E. (2005). Lifetime Prevalence and Age-of-Onset Distributions of DSM-IV Disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 62(6), 593. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.62.6.593

- Kiesler, S., & Cummings, J. N. (2002). What do we know about proximity and distance in work groups? A legacy of research. *Distributed work, 1,* 57-80.
- Kobak, R., Rosenthal, N., & Serwik, A. (2005). The attachment hierarchy in middle childhood: Conceptual and methodological issues. In K. Kerns & R. Richardson (Eds.), *Attachment in middle childhood* (pp. 71-88). New York; Guilford Press.
- Kobak, R., Rosenthal, N. L., Zajac, K., & Madsen, S. (2007). Adolescent attachment hierarchies and the search for an adult pair-bond. *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, 117, 57-72
- Kochanska, G. (1998). Mother-child relationship, child fearfulness, and emerging attachment: A short-term longitudinal study. *Developmental Psychology*, 34(3), 480. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.34.3.480
- Kroenke, K., & Spitzer, R. L. (2002). The PHQ-9: A New Depression Diagnostic and Severity Measure. *Psychiatric Annals*, 32(9), 509-515. https://doi.org/10.3928/0048-5713-20020901-06

- Kroenke, K., Spitzer, R. L., & Williams, J. B. W. (2002). The PHQ-15: Validity of a New Measure for Evaluating the Severity of Somatic Symptoms. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 64(2), 258-266. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006842-200203000-00008
- Kumar, S., Dixit, V., Chaudhury, S., & Kenswar, D. K. (2013). Racial differences in suicidal ideation among school going adolescents. *Industrial Psychiatry Journal*, 22(2), 118-124.
- Lacey, R. E., Kumari, M., & Bartley, M. (2014). Social isolation in childhood and adult inflammation: Evidence from the National Child Development Study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 50, 85-94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.08.007
- Laible, D. (2007). Attachment with parents and peers in late adolescence: Links with emotional competence and social behavior. *Personality and Individual Differences, 43,* 1185-1197.
- Laible, D. J., Carlo, G., & Raffaelli, M. (2000). The differential relations of parent and peer attachment to adolescent adjustment. *Journal of Youth & Adolescence, 29*, 45-59.
- Laible, D., Carlo, C., & Roesch, S. C. (2004). Pathways to self-esteem in late adolescence: The role of parents and peer attachment, empathy and social behaviours. *Journal of Adolescence, 27*, 703-716.
- Laible, D., & Thompson, R. A. (2000). Mother-Child Discourse, Attachment Security, Shared Positive Affect, and Early Conscience Development. *Child Development*, 71(5), 1424– 1440. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00237
- Lau, S., Chan, D., & Lau, P. W. (1999). Facets of Loneliness and Depression Among Chinese Children and Adolescents. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 139(6), 713-729. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224549909598251
- Leavy, R. L. (1983). Social support and psychological disorder: a review. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 11(1), 1179-1185.

- Lee, L. M. (2012). Youths navigating social networks and social support systems in settings of chronic crisis: The case of youth-headed households in Rwanda, *African Journal of AIDS Research*, 11(3), 165-175.
- Lieberman, A. F. (2004). Traumatic stress and quality of attachment: Reality and internalization in disorders of infant mental health. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 25(4), 336-351. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.20009
- Loades, M., Chatburn, E., Higson-Sweeney, N., Reynolds, S., Shafran, R., Brigden, A., Linney, C., McManus, M., Borwick, C., & Crawley, E. (2020). Rapid Systematic Review: The Impact of Social Isolation and Loneliness on the Mental Health of Children and Adolescents in the Context of COVID-19. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 59(11), 1218-1239.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2020.05.009
- Main, M., Kaplan, K., & Cassidy, J. (1985). Security in infancy, childhood, and adulthood: A move to the level of representation. Monographs: A move to the level of representation.
   *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development. 50*(1-2, Serial No. 209).
- Marganska, A., Gallagher, M., & Miranda, R. (2013). Adult attachment, emotion dysregulation, and symptoms of depression and generalized anxiety disorder. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 83(1), 131-141. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajop.12001
- Martino, J. A., Pegg, J., & Frates, E. P. (2017). The Connection Prescription: Using the Power of Social Interactions and the Deep Desire for Connectedness to Empower Health and Wellness. *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine*, 11(6), 466-475. https://doi.org/10.1177/1559827615608788
- Mason, M. J., Zaharakis, N., & Benotsch, E. G. (2014). Social Networks, Substance Use, and
  Mental Health in College Students. *Journal of American College Health*, 62(7), 470-477.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2014.923428

- Mayes, S. D., Calhoun, S. L., Baweja, R., & Mahr, F. (2014). Suicide ideation and attempts in children with psychiatric disorders and typical development. *Crisis, 36*(1), 55-60.
- Mayseless, O. (1996). Adults' attachment patterns: Coping with separations, *Journal of Youth* and Adolescence, 25(5), 667-690. Doi: 10.1007/BF01537360
- Mayseless, O. (2004). Home leaving to military service: Attachment concerns, transfer of attachment functions from parents to peers, and adjustment. *Journal of Adolescent Research, 19*, 533-558. https://doi.org/10.1177/0743558403260000
- Medley, M. L. (1980). Life Satisfaction across Four Stages of Adult Life. International Journal of Aging & Human Development, 11(3), 193–209. https://doi.org/10.2190/d4lg-aljq-8850gydv
- Mikulincer, M., Horesh, N., Eilati, I., & Kotler, M. (1999). The association between adult attachment style and mental health in extreme life-endangering conditions. *Personality* and Individual Differences, 27(5), 831-842. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0191-8869(99)00032-x
- Mikulincer, M., & Shaver, P. R. (2007). *Attachment in adulthood: Structure, dynamics, and change*. New York: Guilford.
- Mikulincer, M., & Shaver, P. R. (2012). An attachment perspective on psychopathology. *World Psychiatry*, 11(1), 11-15.
- Mikulincer, M., Shaver, P. R., & Horesh, N. (2006). Attachment Bases of Emotion Regulation and Posttraumatic Adjustment. *American Psychological Association EBooks*, 77-99. https://doi.org/10.1037/11468-004
- Mikulincer, M., Shaver, P. R., & Pereg, D. (2003). Attachment theory and affect regulation: The dynamics, development, and cognitive consequences of attachment-related strategies.
   *Motivation and Emotion*, 27(2), 77-102.

- Millings, A., Buck, R., Montgomery, A., Spears, M., & Stallard, P. (2012). School connectedness, peer attachment, and self-esteem as predictors of adolescent depression. *Journal of Adolescence*, 35, 1061-1067.
- Mojtabai, R., Olfson, M., & Han, B. (2016). National trends in the prevalence and treatment of depression in adolescents and young adults. *Pediatrics*, *158*(6), 1-12.
- Morry, M. M., Reich, T. C., & Kito, M. (2010). How Do I See You Relative to Myself?
  Relationship Quality as a Predictor of Self- and Partner-Enhancement Within Cross-Sex
  Friendships, Dating Relationships, and Marriages. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 150(4), 369-392. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224540903365471
- Mosquera, D., Gonzalez, A., & Leeds, A. M. (2014). Early experience, structural dissociation, and emotional dysregulation in borderline personality disorder: the role of insecure and disorganized attachment. *Borderline Personality Disorder and Emotion Dysregulation*, *1*(1), 15. https://doi.org/10.1186/2051-6673-1-15
- Osman, A., Bagge, C. L., Gutierrez, P. M., Konick, L. C., Kopper, B. A., & Barrios, F. X. (1999). The Suicidal Behaviors Questionnaire-Revised (SBQ-R): Validation with Clinical and Nonclinical Samples. *Assessment*, 8(4), 443-454. https://doi.org/10.1177/107319110100800409
- Qualter, P., Brown, S. J., Munn, P., & Rotenberg, K. J. (2010). Childhood loneliness as a predictor of adolescent depressive symptoms: an 8-year longitudinal study. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 19(6), 493-501. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-009-0059-y
- Park, L. E., Crocker, J., & Mickelson, K. D. (2004). Attachment Styles and Contingencies of Self-Worth. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 30(10), 1243-1254. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167204264000

- Peer, E., Vosgerau, J., & Acquisti, A. (2014). Reputation as a sufficient condition for data quality on Amazon Mechanical Turk. *Behavior research methods, 46*, 1023-1031.
- Pellegrini, R. J. (1977). Mate separation and emotional attachment in romantic love relationships: does absence make the heart grow fonder? *Psychological Reports*, 41(3\_suppl), 1175-1178.
- Pieh, C., Budimir, S., Delgadillo, J., Barkham, M., Fontaine, J., & Probst, T. (2021). Mental Health During COVID-19 Lockdown in the United Kingdom. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 83(4), 328-337. https://doi.org/10.1097/psy.000000000000871
- Pieh, C., O'Rourke, T., Budimir, S., & Probst, T. (2020). Relationship quality and mental health during COVID-19 lockdown. *PLOS ONE*, 15(9), e0238906. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0238906
- Pietromonaco, P. R., & Collins, N. L. (2017). Interpersonal mechanisms linking close relationships to health. *American Psychologist*, 72(6), 531-542. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000129
- Pietromonaco, P. R., & Powers, S. I. (2015). Attachment and health-related physiological stress processes. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 1, 34-39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2014.12.001
- Pietromonaco, P. R., Uchino, B. N., & Schetter, C. D. (2013). Close relationship processes and health: Implications of attachment theory for health and disease. *Health Psychology*, 32(5), 499-513. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029349
- Pitman, R., & Scharfe, E. (2010). Testing the function of attachment hierarchies during emerging adulthood. *Personal Relationships*, 17(2), 201-216.
- Porter, E., & Chambless, D. L. (2014). Shying away from a good think: Social anxiety in romantic relationships. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 70(6), 546-561.

Prince, J. P. (2015). University Student Counseling and Mental Health in the United States: Trends and Challenges. *Mental Health & Prevention*, 3 (1–2), 5-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhp.2015.03.001

- Reblin, M., & Uchino, B. N. (2008). Social and emotional support and its implication for health. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 21(2), 201–205. https://doi.org/10.1097/yco.0b013e3282f3ad89
- Rook, K. S. (2015). Social networks in later life: Weighing positive and negative effects on health and well-being. *Current directions in psychological science*, *24*(1), 45-51.
- Rosenthal N., & Kobak, R. R. (2010). Assessing adolescents' attachment hierarchies:
  Differences across developmental periods and associations with individual adaptation. *Journal of Research on Adolescence, 20*(3), 678-706. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-7795.2010.00655.x
- Ross, K. M., Rook, K. S., Winczewski, L., Collins, N. L., & Schetter, C. D. (2019). Close relationships and health: The interactive effect of positive and negative aspects. *Social* and Personality Psychology Compass, 13(6). https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12468
- Rotenberg, S., & McGrath, J. J. (2016). Inter-relation between autonomic and HPA axis activity in children and adolescents. *Biological Psychology*, 117, 16-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2016.01.015
- Rowe, A. C., & Carnelley, K. B. (2005). Preliminary support for the use of a hierarchical mapping technique to examine attachment networks. *Personal Relationships*, 12(4), 499-519. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6811.2005.00128.x
- Rueger, S. Y., Malecki, C. K., Pyun, Y., Aycock, C., & Coyle, S. (2016). A meta-analytic review of the association between perceived social support and depression in childhood and

adolescence. Psychological Bulletin, 142(10), 1017-1067.

https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000058

- Scharf, E. (2017). *Attachment theory*. Encyclopedia of Evolutionary Psychological Science, pp. 1-10. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-16999-6 3823-1.
- Scharf, M., & Mayseless, O. (2007). Putting eggs in more than one basket: A new look at developmental processes of attachment in adolescents. *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, 117, 1-22).
- Scharfe, E. (2020). Hitting the Bull's Eye: Attachment Representations and the Organization of Social Networks. Interpersona: An International Journal on Personal Relationships, 14(1), 15-2
- Shrivastava, A., & Burianova, A. (2013). Attachment Styles, Physical Proximity, and Relational Satisfaction. Aviation Psychology and Applied Human Factors, 4(2), 106-112. https://doi.org/10.1027/2192-0923/a000062
- Shulman, S., & Collins, W. A. (Eds.). (1997). Romantic relationships in adolescence:
  Developmental perspectives. In S. Shulman & W. A. Collins (Eds.) *New directions for child development* (No. 78, pp. 21-36). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Sibley, C. G., & Liu, J. K. (2004). Short-term temporal stability and factor structure of the revised experiences in close relationships (ECR-R) measure of adult attachment. *Personality and Individual Differences, 36*(4), 969–975. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0191-8869(03)00165-x
- Smith, K. P., & Christakis, N. A. (2008). Social networks and health. Annu. Rev. Sociol, 34, 405-429.

- Spitzer, R. L., Kroenke, K., Williams, J. B. W., & Löwe, B. (2006). A Brief Measure for Assessing Generalized Anxiety Disorder. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 166(10), 1092. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092
- Steinberg, L. (2001). We know some things: Parent-adolescent relationships in retrospect and prospect. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 11, 1-19. Hhtp://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1532-7795.00001
- Takano, T., & Mogi, K. (2019). Adult attachment style and lateral preferences in physical proximity. *BioSystems*. 181, 88-94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystems.2019.05.002
- Toscos, T., Coupe, A., Flanagan, M. E., Drouin, M., Carpenter, M., Reining, L., Roebuck, A. E., & Mirro, M. J. (2019). Teens Using Screens for Help: Impact of Suicidal Ideation, Anxiety, and Depression Levels on Youth Preferences for Telemental Health Resources. *JMIR Mental Health*, 6(6), e13230. https://doi.org/10.2196/13230
- Trinke, S. J., & Bartholomew, K. (1997). Hierarchies of attachment relationships in young adulthood. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 14(5), 603-625.
- Twenge, J. M., Sherman, R. A., Wells, B. (2015). Changes in American adults' sexual behavior and attitudes, 1972-2012, Arch Sex Behav. 44(8), 2273-85. Doi: 10.1007/s10508-0150540-2.
- Umberson, D., & Karas Montez, J. (2010). Social Relationships and Health: A Flashpoint for Health Policy. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 51(1\_suppl), S54–S66. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022146510383501
- Valtorta, N., Kanaan, M., Gilbody, S., & Hanratty, B. (2016). Loneliness, social isolation and social relationships: what are we measuring? A novel framework for classifying and comparing tools. *BMJ Open*, 6(4), e010799. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010799
- Veazie, S., Gilbert, J. K., Winchell, K., Paynter, R., & Guise, J. (2019). Addressing Social Isolation to Improve the Health of Older Adults: A Rapid Review. https://doi.org/10.23970/ahrqepc-rapidisolation
- Wani, R. T. (2019). Socioeconomic status scales-modified Kuppuswamy and Udai Pareekh's scale updated for 2019. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care, 8*(6), 1846. https://doi.org/10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc\_288\_19
- Waters, E., & Cummings, E. M. (2000). A Secure Base from Which to Explore Close Relationships. *Child Development*, 71(1), 164-172. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00130
- Weiss, R. S. (1993). The attachment bond in childhood and adulthood. In C. M. Parkes., & J. Stevenson-Hinde, & P. Marris (Eds.), *Attachment across the life cycle* (pp. The place of attachment in human behavior (pp. 66-76). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Weiss, R. M. (1994). Is the Attachment System of Adults a Development of Bowlby's Attachment System of Childhood? *Psychological Inquiry*, 5(1), 65-67. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327965pli0501\_14
- Wilkinson, R. (2011). Measuring Attachment Dimensions in Adolescents: Development and Validation of the Experiences in Close Relationships-Revised-General Short Form. *Journal of Relationships Research*, 2(1), 53-62. https://doi.org/10.1375/jrr.2.1.53
- Williamson, D. E., Forbes, E. E., Dahl, R. E., & Ryan, N. D. (2005). A genetic epidemiologic comorbidity of depression and anxiety. *Child Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 14(4), 707-26.
- Young, J. F., Benas, J. S., Schueler, C. M., Gallop, R., Gillham, J. E., & Mufson, L. (2016). A randomized depression prevention trial comparing interpersonal psychotherapy:

Adolescent skills training to group counseling in schools. Preventitive Science, 17,

314324.

Zeifman, D., & Hazan, C. (2008). Pair bonds as attachments: Reevaluating the evidence.

Age of Participants							
	М	[ale	Fer	nale	Total		
Age	n	%	п	%	п		
22-34	126	31.4	162	30.6	288		
35-44	145	36.2	159	30.1	304		
45-64	105	26.2	171	32.3	276		
65 and older	25	6.2	37	7.0	62		

529

100

100

% 31.0 32.7 29.7

6.7

100

62 930

#### 1. f De rticir

Total

401

Sex of Participan	ts	
Sex	п	%
Male	401	43.1
Female	529	56.9
Total	930	100

Romantic Relationship Status of Participants

Komaniic Ketailonsnip Status of Furticipants		
Romantic Relationship Status	п	%
Married	422	45.4
Not Married (Engaged or Living with the partner)	144	15.5
Dating with one person (Seriously or Not seriously)	111	11.9
Single	253	27.2
Total	930	100

SES % *n* 138 Working Class 14.8 Lower-Middle Class 453 48.7 Middle Class 240 25.8 Upper-Middle Class 99 10.6 Total 930 100

#### Table 5-1

Composition Collapsed Calegory Results for Allachment Figure							
	Primary Figure		Secondary Figure		Tertiary Figure		
Category	n	%	п	%	п	%	
Parents	199	21.4	316	34.0	281	30.2	
Nonparents	93	10.0	220	23.7	291	31.3	
Romantic Partners	449	48.3	86	9.2	51	5.5	
Best Friends	127	13.7	215	23.1	255	27.4	
Others	62	6.7	93	10.0	52	5.6	
Total	930	100	930	100	930	100	

Composition Collapsed Category Results for Attachment Figure

#### Table 5-2

	Primary Figure					
	Ν	Male		nale		
Category	n	%	п	%		
Parents	115	28.7	84	15.9		
Nonparents	32	8.0	61	11.5		
<b>Romantic Partners</b>	195	48.6	254	48.0		
Best Friends	45	11.2	82	15.5		
Others	14	3.5	48	9.1		
Total	401	100	529	100		
		Tertiary	Figure			
	Μ	ale	Fem	Female		
Category	п	%	п	%		
Parents	131	32.7	150	28.4		
Nonparents	123	30.7	168	31.8		
<b>Romantic Partners</b>	20	5.0	31	5.9		
Best Friends	116	28.9	139	26.3		
Others	11	2.7	41	7.8		
Total	401	100	529	100		

Composition Collapsed Category Results for Attachment Figure Based on Sex

		Secondary Figure			
	М	ale	Female		
Category	п	%	п	%	
Parents	154	38.4	162	30.6	
Nonparents	84	20.9	136	25.7	
Romantic Partners	22	5.5	64	12.1	
Best Friends	106	26.4	109	20.6	
Others	35	8.7	58	11.0	
Total	401	100	529	100	

#### Table 5-3

Age Group	Primary Attachment Figure	п	%
Early Adulthood (ages 22-34)	Mother	52	18.1
	Father	13	4.5
	Romantic Partner	141	49.0
	Best Friend	41	14.2
	Others	41	14.2
	Total	288	100.0
Early Middle Age (ages 35-44)	Mother	53	17.4
	Father	22	7.2
	Romantic Partner	158	52.0
	Best Friend	31	10.2
	Others	40	13.2
	Total	304	100
Late Middle Age (ages 45-64)	Mother	41	14.9
	Father	13	4.7
	Romantic Partner	122	44.2
	Best Friend	45	16.3
	Others	55	19.9
	Total	276	100.0
Late Adulthood (ages 65 and older)	Mother	2	3.2
	Father	3	4.8
	Romantic Partner	28	45.2
	Best Friend	10	16.1
	Others	19	30.6
	Total	62	100.0

Composition Collapsed Category Results for Attachment Figure Based on Age

Number of Figures	п	%
0.00	76	8.2
1.00	282	30.3
2.00	310	33.3
3.00	169	18.2
4.00	48	5.2
5.00	45	4.8
Total	930	100

Attachment Strength-Number of Attachment Figures in the Inner Circle

Network Structure	п	%
Monotropic	256	27.5
Joint Principal	160	17.2
Diversified	393	42.3
Distributed	121	13.0
Total	930	100

Morphology-Attachment Network Structures for Attachment Hierarchy

*Note.* Categories are based on differences between n three highest rated figures.

Variable         n         1         2         3         4         5         6         7         8         9         10         11         12           1.Number of Attachment Figures         930         -
1.Number of Attachment Figures       930       -         2.Morphology (Hierarchical vs Non-hierarchical)       930      27"         3.Emotional Distance (Centrality-All Five)       930      66"       .20"         4.Emotional Distance (Centrality-Top Three)       930      64"       .15"       .92"         5.Physical Distance (Centrality-All Five)       930      17"       .06       .29"       .27"
2.Morphology (Hierarchical vs Non-hierarchical)       930      27"       -         3.Emotional Distance (Centrality-All Five)       930      66"       .20"       -         4.Emotional Distance (Centrality-Top Three)       930      64"       .15"       .92"       -         5.Physical Distance (Centrality-All Five)       930      17"       .06       .29"       .27"
3.Emotional Distance (Centrality-All Five) 93066 <sup>**</sup> .20 <sup>**</sup> - 4.Emotional Distance (Centrality-Top Three) 93064 <sup>**</sup> .15 <sup>**</sup> .92 <sup>**</sup> - 5.Physical Distance (Centrality-All Five) 93017 <sup>**</sup> .06 .29 <sup>**</sup> .27 <sup>**</sup> -
4.Emotional Distance (Centrality-Top Three) 93064 <sup>**</sup> .15 <sup>**</sup> .92 <sup>**</sup> - 5.Physical Distance (Centrality-All Five) 93017 <sup>**</sup> .06 .29 <sup>**</sup> .27 <sup>**</sup> -
5.Physical Distance (Centrality-All Five) 93017** .06 .29** .27** -
6.Physical Distance (Centrality-Top Three) 93013" .05 .21" .22" .91" -
7.Attachment Quality (ECR) 93022** .08* .22** .18** .04 .012 -
8.Depression 93013" .09" .16" .11" .04 .003 .60" -
9.Anxiety 93008" .09" .11" .06 .00302 .56" .78" -
10.Suicidal Ideation 93010" .06 .11" .06 .00305 .43" .51" .43" -
11.Age 930 .03 .0101001 .12" .13"16"16"17"12" -
12.Sex 930 .10 <sup>**</sup> 030608 <sup>*</sup> .03 .03 .07 <sup>*</sup> .12 <sup>**</sup> .21 <sup>**</sup> .05 .05 -
13.SES 930003 .0102 .00 .03 .0411"16"11"14" .0509"

.*
Correlation
IS.
significant
22
the
0.
2
level
ਰ
$\wedge$
<u>,                                    </u>
2

\*\*. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (p < .01, 2-tailed).</li>
\*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (p < .05, 2-tailed).</li>

Variable	п	M	SD	Cronbach's	Skewne	Kurtos	Shapiro-
				Alpha	SS	is	Wilk
Age	930	42.71	15.59	N/A	8.08	148.93	0.667
Attachment Strength	930	1.96	1.21	N/A	0.63	0.18	0.905
(NAF)							
Depression	930	1.62	0.62	0.891	1.13	0.76	0.875
Anxiety	930	1.68	0.74	0.924	1.16	0.62	0.849
Suicidal Ideation	930	1.57	0.86	0.821	1.91	3.46	0.710
Attachment Quality	930	3.50	1.32	0.816	0.16	-0.68	0.986
(ECR)							
<b>Emotional Distance</b>	930	91.62	45.99	N/A	2.38	9.22	0.814
Physical Distance	930	91.62	41.67	N/A	1.46	5.00	0.920

Descriptive Statistics for Continuous Variables

Note. M and SD are used to represent mean and standard deviation, respectively.

Variable		п	М	SD	Skewnes	Kurtosis	Shapiro-
					S		Wilk
Emotional	Primary Figure	930	24.53	31.69	4.674	38.165	0.637
Distance	Secondary Figure	930	62.51	50.95	3.716	17.982	0.649
	Tertiary Figure	930	91.21	55.62	2.484	9.082	0.788
	Quaternary Figure	930	122.67	61.89	1.685	4.390	0.869
	Quinary Figure	930	157.18	71.81	1.935	9.579	0.877
	Centrality (All Five)	930	91.62	45.99	2.378	9.215	0.814
	Centrality (Top	930	59.41	40.33	3.350	16.456	0.713
	Three)						
Physical	Primary Figure	930	18.56	30.90	4.378	32.871	0.575
Distance	Secondary Figure	930	63.86	50.07	1.750	5.131	0.869
	Tertiary Figure	930	93.38	53.83	1.195	2.326	0.924
	Quaternary Figure	930	123.71	61.10	1.043	1.750	0.940
	Quinary Figure	930	158.61	66.17	1.266	5.652	0.933
	Centrality (All Five)	930	91.62	41.67	1.459	5.004	0.920
	Centrality (Top	930	58.60	37.57	2.117	9.863	0.863
	Three)						

Descriptive Statistics for Emotional and Physical Distance

Chi-Square Tests for Hypothesis 1

Chi-Square resis jor riypoinesis	1				
	Value	df	Asymptotic Significance	Exact Sig.	Exact Sig.
			(2-sided)	(2-sided)	(1-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	1.109 <sup>a</sup>	1	0.292		
Continuity Correction <sup>b</sup>	0.939	1	0.333		
Likelihood Ratio	1.096	1	0.295		
Fisher's Exact Test				0.293	0.166
Linear-by-Linear Association	1.108	1	0.293		
N of Valid Cases	930				

a. 0 cells (0.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 65.74.b. Computed only for a 2x2 table.

		Value	Approximate Significance
Nominal by Nominal	Phi	0.033	0.292
	Cramer's V	0.033	0.292
N of Valid Cases		930	

Symmetric Measures for Hypothesis 1

	Value	df	Asymptotic Significance	Exact Sig.	Exact Sig.
			(2-sided)	(2-sided)	(1-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	14.295ª	1	< .001		
Continuity Correction <sup>b</sup>	13.318	1	< .001		
Likelihood Ratio	17.563	1	< .001		
Fisher's Exact Test				< .001	< .001
Linear-by-Linear Association	14.274	1	< .001		
N of Valid Cases	611				

#### Chi-Square Tests for Hypothesis 2

a. 0 cells (0.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 65.74.
b. Computed only for a 2x2 table.

symmetric measures joi	r nypoinesis z		
		Value	Approximate Significance
Nominal by Nominal	Phi	0.145	< .001
-	Cramer's V	0.145	< .001
N of Valid Cases		611	

*Symmetric Measures for Hypothesis 2* 

	Dependent	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	р	$\eta^2$
	Variable						
Intercept	Depression	21.23	1	21.23	92.71	<.001	.104
	Anxiety	17.08	1	17.08	48.37	<.001	.057
	Suicidal Ideation	23.01	1	23.01	39.70	<.001	.047
Attachment Quality	Depression	86.63	1	86.63	378.29	<.001	.320
	Anxiety	104.04	1	104.04	294.59	<.001	.268
	Suicidal Ideation	85.57	1	85.57	147.67	<.001	.155
SES	Depression	1.39	1	1.39	6.09	0.014	.008
	Anxiety	0.81	1	.81	2.29	0.131	.003
	Suicidal Ideation	2.03	1	2.03	3.50	0.062	.004
Primary Figures	Depression	1.08	4	0.27	1.18	0.320	.006
	Anxiety	2.42	4	0.60	1.71	0.146	.008
	Suicidal Ideation	2.05	4	0.51	0.89	0.472	.004
Age	Depression	0.73	3	0.24	1.06	0.367	.004
	Anxiety	2.60	3	0.87	2.45	0.062	.009
	Suicidal Ideation	2.35	3	0.78	1.35	0.257	.005
Sex	Depression	0.57	1	0.57	2.47	0.117	.003
	Anxiety	3.31	1	3.31	9.38	0.002	.012
	Suicidal Ideation	0.03	1	0.03	0.06	0.807	.000
Romantic R Status	Depression	1.68	3	0.56	2.44	0.063	.009
	Anxiety	1.40	3	0.47	1.32	0.266	.005
	Suicidal Ideation	0.67	3	0.22	0.39	0.763	.001
Primary Figures * Age	Depression	4.07	12	0.34	1.48	0.126	.022
C	Anxiety	5.50	12	0.46	1.30	0.215	.019
	Suicidal Ideation	8.71	12	0.73	1.25	0.243	.018
Primary Figures * Sex	Depression	0.31	4	0.08	0.33	0.856	.002
	Anxiety	0.84	4	0.21	0.60	0.665	.003
	Suicidal Ideation	3.17	4	0.79	1.37	0.243	.007
Primary Figures * RRS	Depression	4.16	12	0.35	1.52	0.113	.022
	Anxiety	6.71	12	0.56	1.58	0.091	.023
	Suicidal Ideation	5.45	12	0.45	0.78	0.668	.012

MANCOVA-Tests of Between-Subjects Effects-Composition

	Dependent Variable	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	р	$\eta^2$
Intercept	Depression	644.42	1	644.42	1740.67	<.001	.653
	Anxiety	723.55	1	723.55	1338.22	<.001	.591
	Suicidal Ideation	612.16	1	612.16	846.00	<.001	.478
Emotional Distance (Centrality)	Depression	3.33	1	3.33	8.98	.003	.010
	Anxiety	1.29	1	1.29	2.38	.123	.003
	Suicidal Ideation	1.89	1	1.89	2.62	.106	.003
Morphology	Depression	5.41	3	1.80	4.87	.002	.016
	Anxiety	7.42	3	2.47	4.58	.003	.015
	Suicidal Ideation	8.24	3	2.75	3.80	.010	.012

MANCOVA-Tests of Between-Subjects Effects-Morphology (Controlling for Emotional Distance)

Bonferroni Multiple C	omparisons of Mor	phology			
Dependent Variable	(I) Morphology	(J) Morphology	Mean Difference (I-J)	Std. Error	Sig (p-value)
Depression	Distributed	Monotropy	-0.078	0.067	1.000
		Joint Principal	-0.090	0.074	1.000
		Diversified	-0.219*	0.064	0.004
Anxiety	Distributed	Monotropy	-0.108	0.081	1.000
		Joint Principal	-0.111	0.089	1.000
		Diversified	-0.259*	0.077	0.004
Suicide Ideation	Distributed	Monotropy	-0.215	0.094	0.133
		Joint Principal	-0.274*	0.103	0.046
		Diversified	-0.304*	0.089	0.004

Table 17

	Dependent Variable	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	р	$\eta^2$
Intercept	Depression	36.16	1	36.16	158.65	<.001	.163
	Anxiety	26.96	1	26.96	75.92	<.001	.086
	Suicidal Ideation	29.33	1	29.33	50.28	<. 001	.058
Attachment Quality	Depression	93.25	1	93.25	409.13	<.001	.335
	Anxiety	114.94	1	114.94	323.70	<.001	.285
	Suicidal Ideation	100.15	1	100.15	171.68	<.001	.175
Morphology	Depression	0.09	3	0.03	0.14	.938	.001
1 00	Anxiety	0.25	3	0.08	0.23	.875	.001
	Suicidal Ideation	2.93	3	0.98	1.68	.171	.006
Age	Depression	0.66	3	0.22	0.96	.409	.004
e	Anxiety	1.80	3	0.60	1.69	.168	.006
	Suicidal Ideation	0.49	3	0.16	0.28	.839	.001
Romantic R Status	Depression	0.51	3	0.17	0.74	.529	.003
	Anxiety	1.75	3	0.58	1.64	.179	.006
	Suicidal Ideation	0.77	3	0.26	0.44	.724	.002
Sex	Depression	0.01	1	0.01	0.03	.863	.000
	Anxiety	1.87	1	1.87	5.28	.022	.006
	Suicidal Ideation	0.06	1	0.06	0.10	.754	.000
Morphology * Age	Depression	4.07	9	0.45	1.98	.038	.022
1 0, 0	Anxiety	2.50	9	0.28	0.78	.633	.009
	Suicidal Ideation	5.15	9	0.57	0.98	.455	.011
Morphology * RRS	Depression	1.64	9	0.18	0.80	.616	.009
1 00	Anxiety	3.01	9	0.33	0.94	.488	.010
	Suicidal Ideation	2.93	9	0.33	0.56	.832	.006
Morphology * Sex	Depression	0.86	3	0.29	1.25	.289	.005
1 00	Anxiety	1.36	3	0.45	1.28	.281	.005
	Suicidal Ideation	2.79	3	0.93	1.60	.189	.006

MANCOVA-Tests of Between-Subjects Effects-Morphology

Summary oj	f Hierarchical Multiple Regression for Attach	iment Strei	ngth Pre	dicting A	nxiety		
	Variable	В	β	R	$R^2$	$\Delta R^2$	Sig (p-value)
Model 1	Control Variables	1.416**		0.264	0.069	0.069	< .001
	Age	007**	154				
	Romantic Relationship Status	.028	.047				
	Sex	.331**	.221				
Model 2	Independent Variable	1.461**		0.280	0.078	0.009	.013
	Age	007**	154				
	Romantic Relationship Status	.022	.038				
	Sex	.343**	.230				
	The Number of Attachment Figures	044	072				
	Emotional Distance (Centrality-Top	.001	.031				
	I hree Figures)						
Model 3	Interaction Terms	1.351**		0.501	0.251	0.173	< .001
	Age	005**	104				
	Romantic Relationship Status	011	020				
	Sex	.270**	.181				
	The Number of Attachment Figures	.072	.117				
	Emotional Distance (Centrality-Top	.001	.031				
	Three Figures)						
	ECR * Strength	102**	439				
	Romantic Relationship Status * Strength	.032*	.129				
	Sex * Strength	010	026				

Note. N=930. \*p<.05 \*\*p<.001

	Variable	В	β	R	$R^2$	$\Delta R^2$	Sig (p-value)
Model 1	Control Variables	1.430**		0.236	0.056	0.056	< .001
	Age	006**	142				
	Romantic Relationship Status	.065**	.134				
	Sex	.182**	.147				
Model 2	Independent Variable	1.472**		0.270	0.073	0.017	< .001
	Age	006**	142				
	Romantic Relationship Status	.058**	.121				
	Sex	.197**	.159				
	The Number of Attachment Figures	049*	095				
	Emotional Distance (Centrality-Top Three Figures)	.001	.050				
							9
Model 3	Interaction Terms	1.369**		0.523	0.274	0.201	< .001
	Age	003*	088				
	Romantic Relationship Status	.029*	.059				
	Sex	.132**	.106				
	The Number of Attachment Figures	.057	.111				
	<b>Emotional Distance (Centrality-Top</b>	.001	.052				
	Three Figures)						
	ECR * Strength	091**	473				
	Romantic Relationship Status * Strength	.024*	.119				
	Sex * Strength	- 002	- 008				

*Note*. *N*=930. \**p* < .05 \*\**p* < .001

+Summary of	of Hierarchical Multiple Regression for Attachm	ent Strengi	th Predic	ting Suic	idal Idea	tion	
	Variable	В	β	R	$R^2$	$\Delta R^2$	Sig (p-value)
Model 1	Control Variables	1.497**		0.170	0.029	0.029	< .001
	Age	006**	116				
	Romantic Relationship Status	.073**	.109				
	Sex	.114*	.066				
Model 2	Independent Variable	1.622**		0.195	0.038	0.009	.015
	Age	006**	116				
	Romantic Relationship Status	.067*	.099				
	Sex	.128*	.074				
	The Number of Attachment Figures	068*	095				
	Emotional Distance (Centrality-Top Three Figures)	.000	001				
Model 3	Interaction Terms	1.195**		0.388	0.151	0.113	< .001
	Age	004*	075				
	Romantic Relationship Status	.035	.051				
	Sex	.057	.033				
	The Number of Attachment Figures	.204*	.288				
	<b>Emotional Distance (Centrality-Top Three</b>	.000	.010				
	Figures)						
	ECR * Strength	094**	352				
	Romantic Relationship Status * Strength	.029	.101				
	Sex * Strength	.094*	.217				

Note. N=930. \* p < .05 \*\* p < .001

Model 1	Variable Control Variables	B 1.416**		β	β R 0.264	$\beta R R^2$ 0.264 0.069
	Age	007**		154	154	154
	Romantic Relationship Status	.028		.047	.047	.047
	Sex	.331**		.221	.221	.221
Model 2	Independent Variable	0.484**			0.583	0.583 0.340
	Age	003*		070	070	070
	Romantic Relationship Status	028		048	048	048
	Sex	.257**		.172	.172	.172
	Physical Distance	001		040	040	040
	Attachment Quality (ECR)	.299*	*	* .535	* .535	* .535
Model 3	Interaction Terms	0.494	*	*	1* 0.584	<sup>*</sup> 0.584 0.341
	Age	004	*	075	075	075
	Romantic Relationship Status	02	œ	8049	8049	8049
	Sex	.263*	*	.176	.176	* .176
	Physical Distance	001		046	046	046
	Attachment Quality (ECR)	.299**	-	.535	.535	.535
	Age * Distance	.000		.054	.054	.054
	Romantic Relationship Status * Distance	.000		.038	.038	.038
	Sex * Distance	00	1	1093	1093	1093
Model 4	Interaction Terms	0.459	• •*		0.584	0.584 0.341
	Age	00	*	4*077	4*077	4*077
	<b>Romantic Relationship Status</b>	028		048	048	048
	Sex	.262	- 3	.176 . 1 047	.176	··· .176
	Attachment Quality (ECR)	.310	* )	** 555	** 555	
	Age * Distance	.000	Ŭ	.064	.064	.064
	Romantic Relationship Status * Distance	.000	0	.027	.027	.027
	Sex * Distance	00	_	093	093	093
	ECR * Distance	.000		200	200	200

*Note.* N=930. \* p < .05 \*\* p < .001

Model 4	Model 3	Model 2	Model 1
Interaction Terms Age Romantic Relationship Status Sex Physical Distance Attachment Quality (ECR) Age * Distance Romantic Relationship Status * Distance Sex * Distance FCR * Distance	Interaction Terms Age Romantic Relationship Status Sex Physical Distance Attachment Quality (ECR) Age * Distance Romantic Relationship Status * Distance Sex * Distance	Age Romantic Relationship Status Sex Independent Variable Age Romantic Relationship Status Sex Physical Distance Attachment Quality (ECR)	Variable Control Variables
0.543** 002 .013 .121** .001 .256** .000 .000	0.488** 002 .014 .120** .001 .273** .000 .000	006** .065** .182** 0.579** 002 .014 .115** 001 .273**	<i>B</i> 1.430**
050 .028 .097 .048 .551 .035 .035 .090 022	053 .029 .097 .046 .589 .055 .071	142 .134 .147 050 .029 .093 045 .588	β
0.620	0.620	0.619	R 0.236
0.385	0.384	0.383	<i>R</i> <sup>2</sup> 0.056
0.001	0.002	0.327	$\Delta R^2$ 0.056
.333	.505	< .001	<u>Sig (p-value)</u> < .001

Model 4	Model 3	Model 2	<u>Summary of</u> Model 1
Interaction Terms Age Romantic Relationship Status Sex Physical Distance Attachment Quality (ECR) Age * Distance Romantic Relationship Status * Distance Sex * Distance ECR * Distance	Interaction Terms Age Romantic Relationship Status Sex Physical Distance Attachment Quality (ECR) Age * Distance Romantic Relationship Status * Distance Sex * Distance	Independent Variable Age Romantic Relationship Status Sex Physical Distance Attachment Quality (ECR)	<sup>r</sup> Hierarchical Multiple Regression for Physi Variable Control Variables Age Romantic Relationship Status Sex
0.729* 003 .020 .055 002 .271** .000 .001 002 002	0.712** 003 .020 .055 002 .277** .000 .000 002	0.641** 003 .022 .046 001 .276**	<i>cal Distanc</i> <i>B</i> 1.497** 006** .073** .114*
051 .030 .032 091 .420 .035 .035 145 145	052 .030 .032 091 .429 .039 .039 .054 145	049 .033 .027 037 .427	<i>ce Predi</i> β 116 .109 .066
0.452	0.452	0.449	<u>ting Sui</u> 0.170
0.204	0.204	0.202	<i>cidal Id</i> <u><i>R</i><sup>2</sup></u> 0.029
0.000	0.002	0.173	<i>eation</i> <u><i>AR</i><sup>2</sup></u> 0.029
.844	.448	< .001	Sig (p-value) < .001

*Note.* N=930. \* p < .05 \*\* p < .001

#### Appendix A

#### Web-Based Hierarchical Mapping Technique (WHMT)



#### **Bull's Eye Online Survey**

#### **Choose 5 relationships**

From the list below, choose 5 people you feel have the most IMPACT on your life, regardless of how satisfied you feel with the relationships. Once you are satisfied with your five choices, click NEXT

- Best Friend 1
- Best Friend 2
- Best Friends(Group)
- Romantic Partner
- Brother 1
- Brother 2Sister 1
- Sister 2
- Cousin
- E Father
- Mother
- Step-Mother
- Step-FatherGrandmother
- Grandfather
- Aunt
- Uncle
- Teacher
- Coach
- CounselorOther

Other (separate by comma):

write in who this person is, such as a relative, supervisor, mentor, etc...)

Next Page

#### Web-Based Hierarchical Mapping Technique (WHMT) Assessment (continued)

Vulnerable Self Target

How important is each person to you when you are feeling vulnerable? You are vulnerable when you feel insecure, unprotected, or emotionally or physically hurt. Drag and drop each person into the circle so that the most important person is the closest to "YOU" when you feel vulnerable." When you are finished click the Proceed button.

BFG - for BestFriends(Group) RP - for RomanticPartner F - for Father M - for Mother T - for Teacher



Proceed To the Next Page

#### Web-Based Hierarchical Mapping Technique (WHMT) Assessment (continued)

### **Physical Distance**

How far away do you live from each of the five people in your network

YOU live at the center of the map. Drag and drop each person so where they are in diagram represents how far they live from you AND in what Direction (North, South, East, West).

If the person lives with you, place them directly over YOU.

When you are finished click the Proceed button.





#### **Appendix B**

#### Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9)-Depression Assessment

# PATIENT HEALTH QUESTIONNAIRE-9 (PHQ-9)

Over the last 2 weeks, how often have you been bothered by any of the following problems? (Use " "" to indicate your answer)	Not at all	Several days	More than half the days	Nearly every day
1. Little interest or pleasure in doing things	0	1	2	3
2. Feeling down, depressed, or hopeless	0	1	2	3
3. Trouble falling or staying asleep, or sleeping too much	0	1	2	3
4. Feeling tired or having little energy	0	1	2	3
5. Poor appetite or overeating	0	1	2	3
<ol> <li>Feeling bad about yourself — or that you are a failure or have let yourself or your family down</li> </ol>	0	1	2	3
<ol><li>Trouble concentrating on things, such as reading the newspaper or watching television</li></ol>	0	1	2	3
<ol> <li>Moving or speaking so slowly that other people could have noticed? Or the opposite — being so fidgety or restless that you have been moving around a lot more than usual</li> </ol>	0	1	2	3
<ol> <li>Thoughts that you would be better off dead or of hurting yourself in some way</li> </ol>	0	1	2	3
For office code	ng <u>0</u> +	+	•+	

=Total Score: \_\_\_\_

If you checked off <u>any</u> problems, how <u>difficult</u> have these problems made it for you to do your work, take care of things at home, or get along with other people?

	No	ot difficult at all	Somewhat difficult □	Very difficult □	Extremely difficult □
--	----	------------------------	----------------------------	------------------------	-----------------------------

### Appendix C

#### Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7) Scale-Anxiety Assessment

Over the last two weeks, how often have you been bothered by the following problems?       Not at all       Several days       More than half every day         1. Feeling nervous, anxious, or on edge       1. Several days       1. Several									
1. Feeling nervous, anxious, or on edge	0	1	2	3					
2. Not being able to stop or control worrying	0	1	2	3					
3. Worrying too much about different things	0	1	2	3					
4. Trouble relaxing	0	1	2	3					
5. Being so restless that it is hard to sit still	0	1	2	3					
6. Becoming easily annoyed or irritable	0 1 2 3								
7. Feeling afraid, as if something awful might happen	0	1	2	3					
Column totals + + =									
Total score									
If you checked any problems, how difficult have the things at home, or get along with other people?	y made it fo	or you to do	) your work, ta	ake care of					
Not difficult at all Somewhat difficult Very difficult Extremely difficult									

## GAD-7 Anxiety

If you checked any probler things at home, or get alor	ns, how difficult have they g with other people?	y made it for you to o	do your work, take care of
Not difficult at all	Somewhat difficult	Very difficult	Extremely difficult

#### Appendix D

#### The Suicide Behaviors Questionnaire-Revised (SBQ-R)

#### SBQ-R Suicide Behaviors Questionnaire-Revised

**Instructions:** Please check the number beside the statement or phrase that best applies to you.

- 1. Have you ever thought about or attempted to kill yourself? (check one only)
  - 1. Never
  - 2. It was just a brief passing thought
  - 3a. I have had a plan at least once to kill myself but did not try to do it
  - 3b. I have had a plan at least once to kill myself and really wanted to die
  - 4a. I have attempted to kill myself, but did not want to die
  - 4b. I have attempted to kill myself, and really hoped to die

#### 2. How often have you thought about killing yourself in the past year? (check one only)

- 1. Never
- 2. Rarely (1 time)
- 3. Sometimes (2 times)
- 4. Often (3-4 times)
- 5. Very Often (5 or more times)

3. Have you ever told someone that you were going to commit suicide,

or that you might do it? (check one only)

- 🗌 1. No
- 2a. Yes, at one time, but did not really want to die
- 2b. Yes, at one time, and really wanted to die
- 3a. Yes, more than once, but did not want to do it
- 3b. Yes, more than once, and really wanted to do it

#### 4. How likely is it that you will attempt suicide someday? (check one only)

0. Never

- 4. Likely
- 1. No chance at all

- 5 Rather lil
- 5. Rather likely6. Very likely
- 2. Rather unlikely
- 3. Unlikely

131

#### Appendix E

		1=Str	1=Strongly Disagree7=Strongly A					y Agree
1.	I prefer not to show others how I feel deep down	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2.	I feel comfortable sharing private thoughts and feelings with other people	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3.	I find it difficult to allow myself to depend on other people	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
4.	I often worry that other people close to me don't really love me	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
5.	I am very comfortable being close to other people	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
6.	I often worry that other people don't care as much about me as I care about them	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
7.	I worry a lot about my relationships	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
8.	When I show my feelings to people I care about, I'm afraid that they will not feel the same about me	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
9.	It is usually easy for me to discuss my problems and concerns with other people	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
10.	My relationships with people make me doubt myself	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
11.	It helps to turn to others for support in times of need	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
12.	I find that other people don't want to be as close as I would like	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
13.	Sometimes people change their feelings about me for no apparent reason	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
14.	I am nervous when people get too emotionally close to me	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
15.	My desire to be close sometimes scares people away	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
16.	I feel comfortable depending on other people	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
17.	I am afraid that once somebody gets to know me, he or she won't like who I am	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
18.	I find it easy to depend on other people	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
19.	It makes me mad that I don't get the affection and support I need from other people	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
20.	It is easy for me to be affectionate with other people	1	2	3	4	5	6	7